

National Library of Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Services des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

CANADIAN THESES

THÈSES CANADIENNES

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the decree

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

THIS DISSERTATION
HAS BEEN MICROFILMED
EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE





National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE

THÈSES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE

	Paula Marie Chmi	Jan			
A COMMANDED OF THE READING CALL C OF CRAPE ONE CTHORNES					
TITLE OF THESIS/TITRE DE LA THÈSE	A COMPARISON OF THE READING SKILLS OF GRADE ONE STUDENTS IN FRENCH IMMERSION AND REGULAR ENGLISH CLASSROOMS				
· .	IN FRENCH INNERS	100 AND REQUEAR ENGETSH CEASSROOMS			
UNIVERSITY/UNIVERSITÉ	Simon Fraser	University			
DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESEN	ITED/ <i>IT PRÉSENTÉE</i> Master (of Arts (Education)			
YEAR THIS DEGREE CONFERRED/ANNÉE	D'OBTENTION DE CE GRADE	1984			
NAME OF SUPERVISOR/NOM-DU DIRECTO	EUR DE THÈSE Dr. Jai	net Ross Kendall			
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Permission is hereby granted to th	e NATIONAL LIBRARY OF	L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIC	THÈ-		
CANADA to microfilm this thesis a	nd to lend or sell copies	QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette the	se et		
of the film.		de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.			
The author reserves other publication	on rights, and neither the	L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication;	ni la		
thesis nor extensive extracts from it	t may be printed or other-	thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imp	rimés		
wise reproduced without the author's	written permission.	ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'au	iteur.		
.					
DATED/DATÉ Feb. 28,1	984 SIGNED/SIGNE				
· 		· ·			
PERMANENT ADDRESS/RÉSIDENCE FIXÉ					
•					

A COMPARISON OF THE READING SKILLS OF GRADE ONE STUDENTS IN FRENCH IMMERSION AND REGULAR ENGLISH CLASSROOMS

by

Paula Chmilar

B.A., Simon Fraser University, 1974

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF ARTS (EDUCATION)

in the Faculty

of

Education

© Paula Chmilar 1984

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

February 1984

All rights reserved. This thesis may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means without the permission of the author.

PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the title of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the tibrary of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

A COMPARISON OF THE READING SKILLS OF GRADE ONE STUDENTS IN

Title of Thesis/Project/Extended Essay

	FRENCH	IMMERSION	AND	REGULAR	ENGLISH	CLASSE	LOOMS			
				-		·	*		•	••
Author		(signature					•	,	•	
	Pa	ula Marie (name)	Charl	lar						

Feb. 28, 1984

(data)

APPROVAL

Name -

Paula Marie Chmilar

Degree:

Master of Arts (Education)

Title of Thesis:

A Comparison of the Reading Skills of Grade One Students in French Immersion

and Regular English Classrooms

Examining Committee

Chairperson:

R. W. Marx

J. R. Kendall Senior Supervisor

A. Obadia
Associate Professor

S. Shapson Associate Professor Faculty of Education Simon Fraser University External Examiner

Date approved 28 02 84

ABSTRACT

Previous research on the English reading ability of early French

Immersion children has shown that they do not read English as well as their

English instructed peers until grade 3 or 4 when English reading instruction

is introduced. However, previous research has not examined the strategies

French Immersion children use while reading English. This study describes

and compares the English reading skills of 50 French Immersion (FI) and

56 English instructed (ENG) children at the end of grade 1.

The FI and EMG children were tested individually to assess their reading of common words, consonant and vowel sounds, and their spelling of common words. Oral reading accuracy and comprehension, and silent reading comprehension were also evaluated. All classroom teachers were interviewed about classroom language arts activities. A stratified random sample of parents was selected and they were interviewed about their children's reading activities at home.

The results support the previous findings that FI children do not read English as well as their ENG peers. Further, they show that the FI children use one of 3 strategies to read English: 1) English decoding,

2) French decoding, 3) a combination of French and English decoding. The FI children's responses revealed that their French reading skills both transfer to and interfere with their English reading. Those FI children

(24%) whose oral reading accuracy and comprehension scores were similar to the ENG group's exhibited a similar proficiency of decoding subskills, or level of automaticity, to the ENG group.

The only difference in certain language arts activities between the FI and ENG classes was the language of instruction. FI teachers did not help with English reading skills. Parent interviews showed that the FI parents regularly read aloud to their children in English and that most provided direct assistance for their children in acquiring English reading skills.

ACKNOWLEDGENENTS

Sincere thanks to Janet Kendall, Tom, and my mum.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

		-	· ·
	Approval page	11	
	Abstract	ifi	
	Acknowledgements	v	
	Table of Contents	vi	
	List of Tables	viii	
	INTRODUCTION	<u>1</u> .	
	LITERATURE REVIEW	6.	e .
	Model of Developmental Reading	,6 .	
	English Reading Skills of French Immersion children	8.	
	Methods of Assessment	15.	
	Parental Attitudes	16.	•
•	METHODOLOGY	19.	
	Sample	19.	1
	Measurement Instruments	20.	
	Reading and Decoding Test	22.	
	Oral Reading and Comprehension Test	28.	
	Maze Test	30.	•
	Teacher Interview Schedule	31.	
	Parent Interview Schedule	32.	
	RESULTS	35.	
	Reading and Decoding Test	35.	
* *	Oral Reading and Comprehension Test	61.	
	Maze Test	68.	
	Teacher Interviews	70.	1.4
	Parent Interviews	71.	and the second s
`	"Good English Readers"	75.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

	DISCUSSION			82.		·
	REPERENCES		· 5	88.		
	APPENDICES			93.	ø	
4	Appendix A:	Reading and Decoding Test	5	93.		
	Appendix B:	Oral Reading and Comprehension	Test	98.		
	Appendix C:	Maze Test		103.		
	Appendix D:	Teacher Interview Schedule		106.		•
	Appendix E:	Parent Interview Schedule		108.	-	
	Appendix F:	Letters of Permission	····	110.		

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Summary of Information Collected	21.
2	Results from the Reading and Decoding Test; Mean Scores Standard Deviations and Univariate F's	37.
· · · 3 - · · · · ·	Spelling Single Consonants Within a Word, Mean Percent Correct	42.
4	Spelling Consonant Blends Within a Word, Mean Percent Correct	43.
5 .	Spelling Consonant Digraphs Within a Word,	45.
	Mean Percent Correct	
6	Spelling Short Vowel Sounds Within a Word, Mean Percent Correct	46.
7	Reading Single Consonant Sounds, Mean Percent Correct	50.
8	Reading Consonant Blends, Mean Percent Correct	52.
9	Reading Consonant Digraphs, Mean Percent Correct	54.
10	Reading Short Vowel Sounds, Mean Percent Correct	57.
11	Reading Vowels in the CVCE Pattern, Mean Percent Correct	58.
12	Reading Vowel Digraphs and Diphthongs, Mean Percent Correct	59.
13	Reading R-Controlled Vowels, Mean Percent Correct	60.
14	Results from Oral Reading and Comprehension Test; Mean Scores, Standard Deviations and Univariate F's	
	Testing Condition I	65.
	Testing Condition II	66.
15	Maze Test Results; Means, Standard Deviations, Univariate $\underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\dagger}\mathbf{s}$ and Range	69.
16	Results from Oral Reading and Comprehension Test, "Good English Readers", Mean Scores and Standard Deviations	76.
17	Results from the Reading and Decoding Test, "Good English Readers", Mean Scores, Standard Deviations and Univariate F's	77.
18	Maze Test Results for "Good English Readers"; Mean Scores, Standard Deviations, and Univariate F's	79.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

French Immersion has become an important educational alternative for many English speaking children in Canada over the last decade (Shapson & Kaufman, 1978; Stern, 1977; Genesee, 1979). French Immersion is generally of three types: early, beginning in kindergarten; later, beginning in grade 7; or partial, when both English and French are taught in the early grades. The general goal of these three different immersion programs is the same. Through participating in a French Immersion program children should gain a high level of French competency, without endangering their native language skills, their cognitive development, or general educational progress (Day, 1978).

Early Immersion begins in kindergarten and continues throughout the children's schooling. From kindergarten to grade 3 the only language of instruction is French. Beginning in grade 3, or in some school districts grades 2 or 4, a daily lesson in English Language Arts is introduced to the children. As these early immersion children progress through elementary school, more of the curriculum is taught in English until a balance is reached between the two languages in the upper intermediate grades. At this level, and for the remainder of their schooling, the children receive approximately half of their instruction in French and half in English (Swain, 1974, 1978; Day, 1978).

Late Immersion programs generally begin in grades 6 or 7. As in an early immersion program, the only language of instruction is French, with

the exception of English Language Arts. English Language Arts is taught as a separate subject area to late immersion students. All other subjects are taught in French (Swain, 1974, 1978).

In a partial immersion program half the instructional day is given in French and the other half in English. English reading is usually introduced in grade 1. French reading is then introduced in grade 2, only after some English reading skills have been established (Swain, 1978).

Only the first immersion program, early immersion, is of concern in this study. One unique feature of early immersion programs is that children in the primary grades are first taught to read and write in French rather than in their native language, English. This feature of early French Immersion programs seems to contradict findings by Mondiano (1966, 1972) and Gray (1969) which suggest that initial reading instruction should be in a child's native language. UNESCO has also emphasized that the child's native language is the best medium for initial instruction (Shapson, 1982). However, the basis for these findings concerns a very different group of children than those who participate in early French Immersion programs in Canada. Those children studied by Mondiano and Gray, and of concern in the UNESCO recommendation are minority language children, or children whose native language is considered a "low-prestige" language (Genesee, 1979). In school, these children would generally be taught the majority or "highprestige" language. In this case, transfer of reading skills from the language of instruction to the minority native language would be highly unlikely as there is little status accorded such a transfer by the community or school, and so literacy in one's native language would rarely be achieved. Thus, if the children are to maintain their native language skills, it is

recommended that initial instruction in reading be given in their first language.

However, this is not the case with Canadian children who attend French Immersion. These children are native majority language users; their first language is English. Their native language is a "high-prestige" language; it is highly unlikely that they will not be encouraged to become literate in English as well as in French. In fact, after intial reading instruction is introduced in French and a significant level of competence is achieved in reading French, the children are instructed in English reading skills at school. This is not the case with children of minority or "low-prestige" language groups.

Several investigators (Lambert & Tucker, 1972; Barik & Swain, 1975;
Swain & Lapkin, 1981; Netten & Spain, 1983) have studied French Immersion students' ability to transfer their reading skills learned with French materials to reading English materials. All previous research has shown that as children progress through the primary grades in French Immersion their reading skills improve. Characteristically, researchers find a large gap in English reading ability between grade 1 French Immersion students and their English instructed peers, a slightly smaller gap between the two groups at the grade 2 level and, finally, no gap at the grade 3 or 4 level when approximately one hour per day of English Language Arts instruction is introduced to the French Immersion students. All this previous research has used standardized achievement tests (e.g., Metropolitan Achievement Test and the Canadian Test of Basic Skills) to evaluate reading ability. While a standardized test can demonstrate the characteristic lag of grade 1 and grade 2 French Immersion students in reading English, it cannot specify

the differences in reading skills between children in French Immersion and regular English classrooms.

The purpose of this present study was to specify those differences in English reading skills between grade 1 children in French Immersion and regular English classrooms, Further to describing these differences, this study examined how grade 1 French Immersion children used those reading skills acquired in French Immersion classes to read materials written in their first language, English. Through a thorough examination of the children's English reading performance, insights can be made as to how the children are transferring their French reading skills to English at the grade 1 level. Their English reading can illustrate exactly what elements of reading French can be appropriately transferred to reading English and what elements interfere with reading English.

Because the children involved in this present study are learning to read in French, it was expected that they would often inappropriately transfer their newly learnt skills to English: it was expected that these children would often decode and encode many English words as if they were French words and that this would result in poorer comprehension. Also, because these children have not formally been taught any English reading skills in school as yet, it was expected that the only strategies they could use to read English would be French reading strategies and any reading strategies they learnt at home prior to grade 1. The inappropriate transfer of French reading skills to English and a lack of knowledge of English reading skills would explain the large gap in English reading ability found between grade 1 French Immersion students and their English instructed peers.

This study also evaluated the effect of parental involvement in reading on the transfer of French reading skills to reading English. Because French Immersion students generally transfer their French reading skills to reading English by grade 3, researchers have been interested in the influence parents of children in French Immersion have on their children's reading development (Edwards, 1976; Barik & Swain, 1976; Cummins, 1977). Although questions concerning parental influence have arisen in the past, and some school districts have cautioned parents of French Immersion students against teaching their children to read English at home to avoid confusing the children (Lambert & Tucker, 1972; D'Anglejan & Tucker, 1971), the research to this time has not specified what kind of help with English reading, if any, parents are giving their children who are in French Immersion programs.

Finally, the relationship between certain classroom Language Arts activities and the transference of reading skills from French to English is considered.

CHAPTER IT

LITERATURE REVIEW

The literature review which follows consists of two sections. The first is a brief review of a model of developmental reading which describes how beginning reading is viewed and, as a result, how it will be measured in this research. The second, more lengthy section, reviews the body of research which concerns the English reading ability of early French Immersion students.

Model of Developmental Reading

Reading researchers agree that reading is both decoding and comprehending: successful reading means that one both decodes print and derives meaning from print. Neither aspect in and of itself can be called reading.

Skilled readers generally use three kinds of information in order to derive meaning from print: 1) syntactic information, 2) semantic information and 3) graphophonic information (Smith, 1971). Beginning readers, because they are proficient users of oral language, understand the semantic and syntactic aspects of language. They can use this knowledge when learning to read. However, they have had little or no experience using graphophonic information. Thus, the first task for beginning readers is to learn how to decode print.

Chall (1979) describes the beginning stages of learning to read. The first stage, The Pre-reading Stage, generally encompasses the pre-school period where children learn oral language and become familiar with words, letters, books, and stories. Through their oral language they also learn

about the syntactic and semantic aspects of language which will be applied later when reading. Through exposure to letters, print and stories in daily activities and while being read to, they learn that print is another method of communication, similar but not exactly the same as oral language.

The second stage described by Chall is the Decoding Stage. During this stage the children are given initial reading instruction. Here children are taught letter-sound correspondences and how letters are used to form words which correspond to the oral language with which they are familiar. At this stage they are learning how to use graphophonic information in order to read. Chall's final stage of beginning reading is the Confirming, Fluency, or Ungluing From Print Stage. At this stage the children can use all the information which skilled readers use when reading. However, they do not use this information as effectively or as fluently as skilled readers. The children need to practice reading at this stage; they need to practice using their decoding skills in combination with their understanding of the semantics and syntax of language in order to derive meaning from print.

Beimiller (1970) showed that children learning to read relied heavily on their knowledge of the semantics and syntax of language until they also began to learn how to use graphophonic information. When they began to learn how to decode, the children tended to change their reading strategies, relying more heavily on their decoding skills than on their knowledge of language.

After decoding skills became more proficient, when the children felt confident that they could use graphophonic information, they again applied their knowledge of language to reading but they used the graphophonic information as well, unlike their strategy when first introduced to reading. Beimiller showed that this progression generally occurred for good readers during grade 1, and that poorer readers moved through the progression more slowly than good readers.

Thus, by the end of the first grade, one would expect good readers to be able to use all three kinds of information when reading: graphophonic, syntactic and semantic. Poorer readers may have learnt certain decoding skills but probably have not progressed to using information other than graphophonic. The poorest readers, one expects, would rely heavily on their knowledge of language but their responses probably would not reflect much use of the graphophonic information available to them.

English Reading Skills of French Immersion Children

Early Immersion begins in kindergarten and continues throughout the child's schooling until grade 12. During the initial primary years of schooling, from kindergarten to grade 3, the native English speaking child is "immersed" into the French language. The only language of instruction from kindergarten through grade 2 is French; no English is used by the teacher (Day, 1978). In kindergarten and the beginning of the first grade the children generally speak English amongst themselves, but by the end of grade 1, teachers expect that French will have become the total language of the classroom in use between teacher and student and amongst students themselves (Swain & Barik, 1973).

English Language Arts is generally introduced as a separate subject in grade 3 (Day, 1978; Swain, 1974), although variations do occur. In some school districts English Language Arts is introduced as early as grade 1 or as late as grade 4 (Swain, 1974).

French Immersion has become a viable alternative form of education simply because it does work. Children do become bilingual without showing any harmful effect on their native language skills (Swain & Lapkin, 1981).

There exists an extensive body of longitudinal research which supports this claim. This abundance of research which builds an unquestioning basis in support of Early French Immersion began with a group of English speaking parents in St. Lambert, Quebec, who believed it was essential for their children to be bilingual in Canada (Lambert & Tucker, 1972). Although the French Immersion program at St. Lambert was not the first of such programs in Canada, it is the first in a series of programs where the children involved have been assessed yearly in French Language Arts, English Language Arts, and Mathematics, and where this research has been well documented. Prior to St. Lambert the first French Immersion program in Canada was offered at a Toronto private school in 1962 (Barik & Swain, 1978). However this earlier program, unlike the St. Lambert project where parents and researchers took the opportunity to gather information about the effects of French Immersion on children, offers no such information.

The St. Lambert project (Lambert & Tucker, 1972; Lambert, 1974) began in 1965 with a kindergarten French Immersion class in St. Lambert, Quebec. This group of children and the following year's kindergarten class became the two experimental groups upon which all subsequent research on French Immersion programs across Canada has been based.

These two experimental groups were compared with two control groups: an English speaking group in a regular English classroom and a French speaking group in a regular French classroom. In the spring of each year, as the children progressed through school, a battery of tests was administered to measure and compare various areas of achievement. These included tests of English Language Arts, French Language Arts, Mathematical Skills, Intelligence, Cognitive Flexibility and Creativity. Of interest

here are the results of the testing of English Language Arts, particularly reading of those French Immersion students.

The parents of the St. Lambert project were urged not to teach their children to read English at home (D'Anglejan & Tucker, 1971). However, as one might well suspect in an experimental program of this nature, the parents were concerned about their children's English Language skills. Because of parental concern and researcher's interest the children were given extensive tests in this subject area each year.

At the end of grade 1, the children's English reading ability was measured using suitable subtests from the Metropolitan Achievement Test

(MAT): word knowledge, word discrimination, and comprehension. These tests showed that the French Immersion children did lag behind their grade 1 peers in a regular English classroom in reading English. However, this was hardly surprising as the children had no English reading instruction at this time.

However, at the end of grade 2, the year during which these children were given two 35 minute English Language Arts lessons each day, the French Immersion children were able to read English as well as the control group. Again the same subtests of the MAT were administered and showed no significant differences between the two groups in reading. The only difference revealed was on a new subtest, spelling.

As in grade 2, in grade 3 the children received two 35 minute English

Language Arts lessons per day. When the MAT was administered at the end

of grade 3, again there were no significant differences in English Language

Arts between the English and French Immersion groups, with the exception

of punctuation. The overall English language competence of the French

Immersion group by the end of grade 3 was judged to be equal to that of

the English Control group. Thus, we see that "children trained to read in a non-native language are very efficient at transferring the basic skills to the native language" (Lambert & Tucker, 1972, p. 36).

Several similar studies have followed the initial St. Lambert Project. Generally, in each study two or three cohorts of Early French Immersion students are tested each spring to determine their English Language Arts abilities as well as their abilities in French and Mathematics. Usually the French Immersion groups are compared to similar groups in regular English and regular French classes. Each study has served to reaffirm and strengthen the St. Lambert findings: that by the end of grade 3, English speaking children who have participated in an Early French Immersion program show no detrimental effects on their English reading ability.

The Ottawa - Carleton Study (Barik & Swain, 1975, 1978) began in 1970 and differed from the St. Lambert Project in that it did not study only two experimental classes of children, but studied three cohorts of children each of which contained approximately 200 children. Again the children were tested at the end of each school year to determine their English Language Arts abilities. At the end of kindergarten, English Reading Readiness was assessed by using the Clymer Barret, Short Form and the Primer subtest of the MAT. On both tests the French Immersion children were shown to be at the same level of readiness as their English peers except on the letter recognition and the sounds subtests in which the Immersion group scored significantly lower than the English group. At the end of grade 1 the same subtests of the MAT as in the St. Lambert Project, or similar subtests of the Canadian Test of Basic Skills (CTBS) were administered to these children, and again the French Immersion group scored well below the English group. However, at the end of grade 2, after

the French Immersion children had been receiving 60 minutes per day of English Language Arts instruction, reading test results demonstrated that the children's English reading ability had caught up to that of their English peers.

The Ottawa Roman Catholic Separate School Board program (Edwards, 1976) differs slightly from the other Immersion programs discussed so far in that the kindergarten program was a full day rather than a half day program. One-half of the kindergarten day was spent in French Immersion and the other half was spent in regular English kindergarten. Also, unlike the Ottawa - Carleton and St. Lambert Projects, where English Language Arts was introduced in grade 2, here English Language Arts was not taught until grade 3. However, similar results were found in this study when the MAT or CTBS was administered in the spring of each year. The French Immersion children in this program matched their English peers in English Language Arts abilities by grade 4 for the first cohort and by grade 3 for the second cohort of children. In grade 4 not only did the French Immersion children catch up to their English peers in English reading skill, their scores were significantly higher in English Language Arts than those of the English group's.

A study in Montreal, beginning in 1970, again followed three cohorts of children through their schooling in French Immersion (Genesee, 1978).

A battery of tests was administered in the spring of each year. Here again the MAT was used to measure English reading ability. Unlike the St. Lambert and Ottawa - Carleton programs where English Language Arts was introduced in grade 2, here English was not introduced until grade 3, for one hour per day. Again the French Immersion group scored significantly lower on

English reading than their English peers until the children were taught English Language Arts as a separate subject in grade 3. At this time the children quickly learnt English reading skills and, at the end of grade 3, their skills were equal to those of the English comparative group.

Two cohorts of children were studied in Coquitlam, B. C. (Shapson & Kaufman, 1978). This study differed from the previous studies in that it took place in Western Canada, a population which can be viewed as different from those of Montreal or Ottawa. In B.C., French is not a common language in use by a large proportion of the population and, thus, French Immersion students' only opportunity to use their French skills may be during school (Wilton, 1975). The program studied in this research also differed slightly in that the first cohort in kindergarten received 20% of their instruction in English, specifically English Language Arts. After this kindergarten year, all subsequent instruction, including the following year's kindergarten, was in French until grade 3 when the children received English Language Arts lessons. Again the children were tested in kindergarten and found to be comparable to the English group in Reading Readiness skills. Again, in grade 1 and grade 2, when tested using the MAT, the children's English reading ability was significantly lower than the English comparison group's reading ability. However, the gap between the French Immersion group's and the English group's English reading ability in grade 2 was much less than in grade 1. And by the end of grade 3 the two groups' scores on the MAT did not differ significantly in reading, only in spelling. So "despite the characteristic lags in English Language skills in grades one and two, they attained equivalence with their peers in these skills soon after English Language Arts were introduced into the curriculum in grade

three" (Shapson & Day, 1982, p. 13).

The Ontario Studies (Allenby Public Schools, Toronto; Ottawa Board of Education; and Carleton Board of Education; Swain & Lapkin, 1981) are a culmination of studies done in three separate school districts over nine years. Results from 38 separate administrations of the Canadian Test of Basic Skills (CTBS) show that in grade 1 the French Immersion children's reading of English was much poorer than their English peers', that in grade 2 the Immersion children are beginning to close the gap between their reading ability and the English groups', and that by grade 3 the gap is virtually closed. By grade 3 or 4 the French Immersion children can read English as well as, and in some cases better than, their English peers.

The Newfoundland research (Netten & Spain, 1983) began in 1980 with the first group of kindergarten Immersion students. In Newfoundland, as in the Montreal and Coquitlam programs, English Language Arts was not introduced to the French Immersion children until grade 3. The Gates MacGinitie Reading Survey (1980) was used to measure English reading ability, and again the same pattern emerged. First, in grades 1 and 2 the French Immersion children scored significantly below those children in a regular English classroom (RE), and second, "the English Language Reading skills of the FI pupils are similar to those of their RE peers by the end of Grade Three" (Netten & Spain, 1983, p. 19).

These studies all serve to confirm the same assertion: that French
Immersion does indeed work and that children do not suffer in their English
reading ability. This current research does not question this fact. It
attempts to illustrate how the children begin to transfer their skills at
the grade I level from reading French, the language of instruction, to
reading English, their native language.

Methods of Assessment

All the major research concerned with studying French Immersion has consistently used group standardized reading tests to assess the children's English reading ability. Suitable subtests of the Metropolitan Achievement Test, the Canadian Test of Basic Skills, or the Gates MacGinitie Reading Survey have been used to make this assessment. Because these standardized tests have been used consistently to measure English reading ability, comparisons could be made between different groups of children and between different studies, all conducted in different places at different times (Swain & Lapkin, 1981; Swain, 1978). Standardized testing allows large numbers of children to be tested simultaneously and is easily scored. It also tends to measure just those aspects of reading which are easy to test (Swain & Lapkin, 1981). Tests results have shown that a complete transfer of reading skills occurs once English Language Arts is introduced into the curriculum. And the results show that transference from reading French to reading English steadily increases during the early grades, even before English Language Arts instruction is introduced. But, this kind of test cannot show specifically what elements are transferred by the children from reading French to reading English in the first years of learning to read.

Tucker (1975), in discussing the St. Lambert Project and, more specifically, the development of reading skills amongst those grade I Immersion students, said that "an inspection of the Experimental pupils' performance on the various sections of the MAT was not particularly revealing" (p. 54). The MAT showed that the Immersion students did not read English as well as the English students but it could not reveal what they could read or could not read because the test is not designed to reveal specifics about

reading ability but rather to show group trends.

Genesee (1979) discussed the lack of information on transference from reading French to reading English during the primary grades of Immersion schooling. He too claimed that the trends revealed through assessments using standardized tests have shown that transfer between the two languages occurs even before English Language Arts is introduced as a subject, and that once English Language Arts is introduced, the catch-up in English reading skills is done very quickly by French Immersion students. However, he stated that "we do not know, ... precisely what is being transferred" (p.74). Genesee suggested that in transferring reading skills from one language to another, the syntactic and semantic aspects of reading would be easier for the child to transfer than the "technical" aspects of reading such as spelling or sound-symbol relationships.

Because French Immersion students are native speakers of English, one would expect the syntactic and semantic aspects of reading English to be readily transferable from learning to read in French. However, because these children first learn the sound-symbol relationships in French, and because much of this code would not be appropriate to transfer to English reading due to differences in sound-symbol relationships between the two languages, interferences from reading French to reading English may well be expected on these "technical" aspects of reading.

Parental Attitudes

As mentioned earlier, the parents of the children in the St. Lambert Project were urged not to teach their children to read English at home (Lambert & Tucker, 1972; D'Anglejan & Tucker, 1971). However, how their children will learn to read English is a primary concern of those parents

whose children are in French Immersion (Day, 1978; Swain & Lapkin, 1981). Many of the studies cited have questioned whether parental influence and teaching have contributed to the easy transfer from reading French to reading English. Edwards (1976), in the Ottawa Roman Catholic School Study, claimed that the progress made in English reading skills at the grade 2 level by the French Immersion students was more than the researchers had anticipated. He questioned whether or not this progress was due to parents teaching their children to read English at home. Barik and Swain (1976), in discussing the considerable transfer of reading skills to English at the grade 1 level, also suggested that English reading may be taught at home. Cummins (1977), in studying an Immersion program in Ireland where Irish was the language of instruction for native English speaking children, also found an easy transfer in reading skills between these two languages. He suggested that parents of the Irish immersion students filled the gaps from learning to read in Irish to reading in English. Cummins suggested that parents involved in Immersion programs of any language are generally middle class, take an interest in their children's schooling, encourage interest in books, and read to their children before their children begin school and continue to do so after they are in school. He claimed that "the rapid transfer of reading skills from L_2 (Language 2) to L_1 (Language 1), observed in virtually all immersion programs where reading is introduced in L2, may be, in part, a function of parental involvement in the reading process" (Cummins, 1977, p.49).

Genesee (1979) suggested that another reason for the easy transference of reading skills from French to English by immersion students in the primary grades is that English is a "high prestige language". By this

Genesee meant that English is not only the immersion child's first language, but that it is a language with is highly regarded in both the home and community. The immersion child needs to read in English as well as French. Genesee suggested that transference of reading skills from a second to a first language may not be as easy or as complete if the first language is a "low-prestige language." Perhaps this is because parents are more likely to help their children to learn to read their first language if it is a "high-prestige" language such as English.

McEachran (1980), in a recent survey in Victoria, B. C. of parents of French Immersion children, reported that most parents did not find their children's English Language skills suffering as a result of being taught in French. The research reported here supports these parents' observations: children who attended French Immersion classes did not seem to have any difficulty in learning to read their native language, English.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Crade 1 French Immersion (FI) students in the North Vancouver School District were tested to examine their English reading strategies. A comparison group of regular English (ENG) grade 1 children was also tested. Both the FI and ENG groups' pre-reading skills had been previously assessed at the end of their kindergarten year, May 1982 (Rauch, 1982), using the Letter and Word Reading Test (LWRT) (McCormick & Mason, 1981). In this current research the children's English reading ability was assessed in terms of decoding and comprehension skills. Three instruments were used: the Reading and Decoding Test (RDT), an instrument based on the LWRT but designed particularly for this research; an oral reading and comprehension test; and a silent reading comprehension test. The teachers of the FI and ENG groups were interviewed about their classroom Language Arts program. A sample of ENG and FI parents were interviewed about their children's reading practices at home.

Sample

Grade 1 FI children, grade 1 ENG children, their teachers and their parents provided the information for this research. All the children attended school in the North Vancouver School District. The FI children (n=50) attended 4 different classes at 2 different schools, and the ENG children (n=56) attended 7 different classes at 3 different schools.

Ninety-eight percent of the FI group and 95% of the ENG group were native English speakers.

Because this current research is part of a larger study which is looking at the development of reading skills in FI students throughout the primary years, from kindergarten to grade 3, the children who were tested in this study were limited to those who had been previously tested at the end of kindergarten. The kindergarten groups consisted of 52 FI students and 59 ENG students. Through attrition 2 children from the FI group and 3 children from the ENG group were lost from the sample.

All the children's teachers were interviewed. There were 4 FI teachers from the 2 different schools and 7 ENG teachers from the 3 different schools.

A stratified random sample of FI and ENG parents was interviewed.

This sample was chosen to reflect the number of children in the sample from both the FI and ENG groups, and to reflect the number of children from the light different classes at the 5 different schools. Twenty FI parents and 26 ENG parents were interviewed.

Measurement Instruments

Table 1 lists the 5 measurement instruments used in this research.

Included in this table is information about the group to whom the instrument was administered and when it was administered. Each of these measurement instruments will be fully discussed in the following sections of this report.

Table $1^{'}$

Summary of Information Collected

	<u> </u>	
Instrument	Administered to	Date of Administration
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Reading and Decoding Test	Grade 1, FI and	,
	ENG children	May - June 1983
Oral Reading Test	Grade 1, FI and	
	ENG children	May - June 1983
Maze Test	Grade 1, FI and	
	ENG children	May - June 1983
Teacher Interview	The 4 FI and 7 ENG	
	teachers of those	
	children administered	
	the reading tests	May - June 1983
Parent Interview	A sample of FI and	
	ENG parents of the	
	above children	June - July 1983

Reading and Decoding Test

The Reading and Decoding Test used in this current research was based on Mc Cormick and Mason's <u>LWRT</u> (1981) and Rauch's <u>LWRT</u> (1982). Rauch's <u>LWRT</u> was used to assess the pre-reading skills of the FI and ENG groups at the end of kindergarten. Changes were made to this pre-reading test to meet the following criteria:

- The test had to be suitable for grade 1 children after one year of reading instruction.
- The test had to illustrate clearly the instances where French reading skills may interfere with reading English or where that skill may transfer to reading English.
- The test had to measure the range of reading abilities in both the FI and ENG groups.

Four subtests from the original LWRT were chosen: Reading Common Words, Spelling Common Words, Reading Consonant Sounds, and Reading Vowel Sounds. The other subtests (Picture Identification, Letter Name Identification, Picture Story, Common Words in Context, Printing and Book Handling) were omitted because these were pre-reading rather than reading tasks.

Each of the chosen subtests was modified to meet the above criteria. This was done by considering both the ENG reading program, Ginn's Reading 720 (Clymer et al., 1978) and the FI reading program, Le Sablier, as well as ensuring, through phonetic analysis, that suitable patterns for grade 1 children were being tested and that those patterns would demonstrate any interference or transfer from French reading instruction. Thus, more difficult high frequency words were added to the Reading Common Words subtest; the Spelling Common Words subtest was expanded to include all short vowels, several common consonant blends and digraphs and the CVCE pattern; and the

Reading Consonant sounds subtest was made more difficult by including consonant blends and digraphs, as well as more difficult single consonant sounds. The Reading Vowel Sounds subtest was left virtually unchanged as the CVC pattern, CVCE pattern, suitable vowel digraphs and diphthongs, and the R-controlled vowels were included in the original LWRT. The only changes made in this subtest were in the beginning and ending consonants of the make-believe words because, in some cases, the English make-believe words were real French words (e.g., PERE changed to NERE).

This new test, the Reading and Decoding Test, was pretested in 2 different pilot tests. The first pilot test was done in Coquitlam, B.C. and in Abbotsford, B.C. In Coquitlam 5 FI students ranging in French reading ability from high to low, as assessed by their classroom teacher, were administered the test. In Abbotsford 5 ENG children, again ranging in English reading ability from high to low, as assessed by their teacher, were administered the test. The FI classroom teacher was also consulted about test items and their suitablity for assessing FI children's English reading ability.

The first pilot test revealed that the range of reading abilities of the ENG group was not adequately measured, and that although all the desired phonetic patterns were being tested, the test was too long and the children became very tired. Therefore the test was shortened. In the Reading Common Words subtest several items were omitted (i.e., sight words from the Ginn Reading 720 program) and more difficult items were added in order to discriminate between good and poor readers. In the Reading Consonant Sounds subtest more difficult blends and digraphs were combined in single words to make the test shorter.

A second pilot test was done in Abbotsford. The test was administered to 4 ENG students, one good reader and three poorer readers, and 2 FI students, both good readers. Following this pilot test changes were again made in length, format, methods of administration and a few individual items. These changes were made to ensure that the children would not become too tired during the testing session and to omit items which caused confusion (i.e., ZACH to ZAST, as CH at the end of a word has several pronunciations, and removing the E from the end of the R-controlled vowels in order to test the simple R-controlled vowel patterns, NERE to NER).

For the final version of the Reading and Decoding Test (see Appendix A), the order of administration of the four subtests was changed. In the pilot tests the Spelling Common Words subtest was administered first whereas in the final version the Reading Common Words subtest was administered first. This change was made because the children were often frustrated with the spelling and found reading the words easier.

Reading Common Words Subtest

This subtest included 20 high frequency words. Each word was confirmed as a high frequency word in The Word Frequency Book (Carroll et al., 1971) and each word was also included in the Dolch List. These words were typed in lower-case letters in primary print on 2 by 11 inch white paper and laminated. This subtest included three sections: Fast Reading, Analysis, and Meaning Response. In the Fast Reading section, the children were told they were going to read a list of English words and that they were to read the list as fast as they could; if they could not read a word they were simply to say "skip-it" and go on to read the next word. The examiner read

a different list of words to illustrate the instructions. The child was then given the list to read. All reading was tape recorded. The number of words read correctly and the time taken by the children to read the list of words was recorded.

After the children had completed the Fast Reading section they were given the Analysis section of this subtest. Here the children were instructed to read the same list of 20 words again only this time they were told they could "sound out" the words. The Analysis section was included to reveal the decoding strategies which the FI children might use. Again all the responses were tape recorded. Those words pronounced correctly were scored as correct answers. In conjunction with the Analysis section the children were also asked to give a Meaning Response following each word they read. After reading each word the children were to give a word or phrase to indicate that they knew what the word meant (i.e., "TOY": "To play with"). The Meaning Response was included in this subtest because during the pilot tests it was found that some FI children were reading English words as French words (i.e., CAR as /Ka:r/) and their single word response did not indicate if, in fact, they were deriving the meaning of the English word CAR even while pronouncing it as a French word. The Meaning Response was included here to check this supposition: if a child read an English word as a French word he may still be deriving the correct English meaning.

In each of the Analysis and Meaning Response sections of this subtest the children could score a possible 20 points. A discrepancy between the two scores, i.e., a lower score in Analysis and a higher score in Meaning Response, would reflect that the children were making errors in pronunciation but were still deriving the correct meaning of the words.

Spelling Common Words Subtest

This subtest consisted of 8 high frequency words as confirmed in the Word Frequency Book (Carroll et al., 1971). These words were chosen to include all short vowels except A, which was used as an example in CAT; the CVCL pattern with all vowels; the CH, TH, and SH digraphs and the single consonant H because interference from French was expected on these; and several consonant blends. There was a possible total of 37 points on this subtest. The children's responses were recorded. Each letter was scored individually (i.e., MULE would score 4 points, MUL 3 points, and MOOL 2 points).

To spell the words the children were given a set of upper case plastic letters arranged alphabetically in a tray. An extra set of vowels were also available for the children to use. The children were instructed to use these letters to spell the dictated words. This procedure for spelling was changed from the pilot tests. In those tests the children were asked to print the words but this seemed to tire them unduly. It was felt that by using plastic letters a better test of spelling would result which would not confuse encoding with penmanship.

An extra set of vowels was included because, although unnecessary to spell any of the words, during the pilot tests the children often spelled words incorrectly using more vowels than necessary (i.e., MULE as MEUOOL). Therefore, extra vowels were available so as not to limit the possibilities.

Reading Consonant Sounds Subtest

This subtest consisted of 20 make-believe English words. The words

were constructed to measure the children's ability to correctly read single consonant sounds, consonant blends and consonant digraphs. Each word consisted of at least 2 consonant sounds, one at the beinning of the word and one at the end of the word (e.g., KNAJ and WRANG). The short vowel A was consistently used to form the words. Only consonant sounds were scored; the vowel sound was ignored. In order to score full points on a consonant blend the children had to blend the letters together correctly (i.e., "BLASH" scores 3 points but "BALASH" scores 2 points as the B and L are not blended together). This subtest has a total possible score of 60 points.

The words were typed in lower case primary print on 2 by 11 inch white paper and laminated. The children were told these were make-believe English words and that to read them they could "sound them out". The children's responses were tape-recorded. There was no time limit. Again the children's incorrect responses were recorded to determine the decoding strategies which might be used by FI children.

Reading Vowel Sounds Subtest

In this subtest 26 make-believe English words were constructed to test the children's ability to read various vowel spelling patterns. Tested here were the CVC pattern, the CVCE pattern, R-controlled vowels and various vowel digraphs and diphthongs which were considered to be familiar to grade 1 English readers. There were 5 sets of vowel patterns. In each set the beginning and ending consonants remained the same (i.e., the CVC pattern read as VEB, VIB, VAB, VOB, VUB). Only the vowel sound was scored; the consonant sounds were ignored. When reading the CVCE pattern if the final E was sounded, even if the other vowel was read correctly (i.e., /paeba/ or

/peibA/), the vowel sound was scored as incorrect. Two pronunciations of PUBE were scored as correct: U as in cute or U as in tube. Two pronunciations of FOW were scored as correct: OW as in cow or OW as in yellow.

The words were typed in lower case primary print on 2 by 11 inch paper and laminated. The children were told these were make-believe English words and that to read them they should "sound them out": There was no time limit. The children's responses were tape recorded. Again incorrect responses were recorded to determine FI decoding strategies. There was a total possible score of 26 points.

Oral Reading and Comprehension Test

This test was included in the individual testing session to assess the FI children's oral reading of passages and their comprehension of those passages. Also, an examination of the children's oral reading errors was expected to give further indication of the reading strategies used by FI children.

In the first pilot test the <u>Classroom Reading Inventory</u> (Silvaroli, 1965) was used to test oral reading and comprehension. Pre-primer, Primer and Grade 1 reading passages were administered to the 5 FI students. The results from this pilot test showed that the comprehension questions included with these reading passages were not passage dependent; FI children who could not satisfactorily read the passages were still able to answer the comprehension questions.

Because of these pilot test results, on the oral reading comprehension questions, Pre-primer, Primer and Grade 1 passages from the Standard Reading

Inventory, Form A (McCracken, 1966) were chosen to test oral reading and

comprehension. A passage dependency check was conducted in Abbotsford, B.C., on the comprehension questions given for these three passages. Five grade 1 children, judged to be good readers by their classroom teacher, were asked the comprehension questions without having read the story. As a result of this check only one question at the Pre-primer level was altered because it was found not to be passage dependent.

The oral reading subtest administered in this research consisted of three sections:

- 1. The oral reading of the paragraphs which was assessed in terms of reading rate (WPM), word recognition errors (i.e., those errors which change the meaning of the text), and total accuracy (i.e., the sum of word recognition errors and fluency errors which are all other errors which do not change the meaning of the text substitutions, repetitions, self-corrections, and some omissions).
- 2. The comprehension recall section where the children, when having finished reading the passage, were to tell the examiner all they could about the passage. Items recalled by the children, which answered the required comprehension questions, were checked by the examiner.
- 3. The total comprehension section which was the sum of questions answered through recall and the children's answers to direct questions asked by the examiner. The examiner asked only those questions not answered through recall.

All the children began this subtest by reading the Pre-primer passage.

Only if the children scored above 60% on the total comprehension section of the Pre-primer passage were they asked to go on to read the Primer passage. Only those children who scored above 60% on the total comprehen-

sion section of the Primer passage read the final, Grade 1, passage.

The three passages were typed in primary print on 8 by 11 inch white paper and laminated.

The children were asked to read the story aloud and were told that after they had finished reading they should tell the examiner about the story. They were also told that they may be asked some questions. The examiner told the children the name of the story. The only words the children were told during their oral reading were names as this information would not affect the children's comprehension of the story (see Appendix B for Oral Reading and Comprehension Test).

Maze Test

The Maze Test was a test of silent reading comprehension. This test was administered to entire classes of children. It consisted of two reading passages from Getting the Facts (Boning, 1978). Both passages were at the grade 1 reading level according to Botel's method of calculating readability levels (Botel, 1962). Care was taken to choose one story about a boy and one about a girl.

In each of these passages every fifth or seventh word was substituted with a set of 3 words to construct the Maze. One of these three words was correct. The other two choices were syntactically correct. All substituted words were high frequency words according to the Word Frequency Book (Carroll et al., 1971). The children were to read the story and choose the correct word from each set of choices.

A traditional maze test substitutes every sixth word with a set of three choices (Guthrie, 1973). However, in the two passages used here,

when every sixth word was used to construct the maze this resulted in far too many auxiliary verbs being used. Substituting these words with three choices resulted in a very difficult comprehension test. Therefore, every fifth or seventh word was chosen to construct the maze because these words were usually nouns or verbs, which resulted in a fairer test for grade 1 children.

Each of the two passages was typed in primary print on 8 by 11 inch whate paper (See Appendix C for Maze Test).

The children were instructed to read each story silently. They were shown that in seven instances in the first story and eight instances in the second story there were places where they would have to choose a word to complete the passage. The children were told to circle the word, in each of these instances, that made sense in the story: The children were given 10 minutes to complete the task. This was considered to be sufficient time for even the poorest readers. The time taken to complete each passage was recorded on each child's test paper. This was done to ensure that the children actually read the passage and did not simply circle words. If a child scored very poorly on each passage but completed the task very quickly, it was assumed he did not read the passages. However, if a child scored very poorly and took a long time to complete the task it was assumed he attempted to read the passages.

Each word chosen correctly scored as 1. There was a possible total score of 15 points.

Teacher Interview Schedule

An interview schedule was developed to collect information about

certain Language Arts activities in their classrooms from all the classroom teachers of the children tested in this research. The following information was collected to determine if differences, other than the language of instruction, existed between FI and ENG classes and to determine if FI teachers were giving the children in their classes any instruction in English Language Arts.

- 1. Information about the teacher's reading aloud practices.
- 2. Information about school library use.
- 3. Information about children's silent reading practices.
- 4. Information about children's writing practices.
- 5. Information about FI teacher's instructional time, formal or informal, spent on English Language Arts (See Appendix D for Teacher Interview Schedule).

Parent Interview Schedule

A parent interview schedule was developed to collect information about the children's reading activities at home and the kind of help parents were giving their children with reading. The information was collected to determine if differences existed between ENG and FI parents and if FI parents were helping their children with English Language Arts. The interview schedule was based on similar schedules used by Durkin (1966), Mason (1977), and Rauch (1982). Changes were made because these previous interview schedules were used with parents of pre-schoolers, not parents of grade 1 children, and because the particular interest here was parental influence on the English reading skills of FI children.

Information was collected from parents on the following topics:

- 1. Information about parents' reading aloud practices.
- 2. Information about children's reading habits at home.
- 3. Information about the family's use of the public library.
- 4. Information about the child's place in the family.
- 5. Information about children's television viewing habits.

A stratified random sample of parents from both the FI and ENG groups was interviewed over the telephone (See Appendix E for Parent Interview Schedule).

Procedure.

Administration of the Reading and Decoding Test, Oral Reading and Comprehension Test and Maze Test

Letters seeking permission to administer the Reading and Decoding Test, Oral Reading and Comprehension Test and Maze Test were sent home to the parent's of the 50 FI children and the 56 ENG children in May, 1982. (See Appendix F for letters of permission.) All the children returned the letter, and testing began in late May. The author and 2 trained examiners tested the children individually in a quiet spot in the school using the Reading and Decoding Test and the Oral Reading and Comprehension Test. Each child's testing session took approximately 1/2 hour.

The Maze Test was administered to class groups of children. Two different examiners administered this test. One examiner gave it to 2 groups of FI children at one school and to 3 groups of ENG children at 2 different schools. The other examiner administered the Maze Test to 2 groups of FI children at one school and 1 group of ENG children at another school. The Maze Test was administered after all children in a class had completed the individual testing session.

Conducting Teacher Interviews

All the classroom teachers involved in this study were interviewed by one researcher. These interviews were conducted informally with the interview schedule serving only as a guide. Generally the teachers were interviewed during the time that the children in their classroom were being tested. However, as this researcher did not test children from 4 of the classes, 4 of the teachers' only contact with the researcher was during this interview session.

Conducting Parent Interviews

All the parents in the sample were interviewed by this researcher. The interviews were conducted over the telephone in June and July 1982. These interviews were conducted in an informal manner. Most of the parents were contacted during the day. Efforts were made to contact working parents by phoning in the early evening and parents who were away on holiday by phoning over a two month period. The telephone interview took from 5 to 15 minutes.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

The results from the testing of the French Immersion (FI) and English (ENG) children are reported here. Quantitative as well as qualitative analyses were performed. In the following section the data from the Reading and Decoding Test, the Oral Reading and Comprehension Test, and the Maze Test are described. Information gathered from the Teacher and Parent Interviews is also described.

Reading and Decoding Test

The Reading and Decoding Test consisted of 4 subtests: Reading Common Words, Spelling Common Words, Reading Consonant Sounds, and
Reading Vowel Sounds. Five scores derived from these subtests were used to analyze the reading performance of the FI and ENG groups. From the Reading Common Words Subtest two scores were used: 1) a ratio of the number of correct words per minute, calculated by dividing the number of words read correctly by the fast reading time, and 2) the number of words read correctly in the Analysis section. The ratio of number of correct words per minute serves as a good indication of the children's "relative proficiency or degree of automaticity" of decoding subskills (Adams, et al., 1980, p.14). The Meaning Response scores obtained from the Reading Common Words Subtest were not included in this analysis as the students' scores in this section were almost identical to their scores on the Analysis section of this subtest. The 3 other scores used in this analysis were: 1) the total score from the Spelling Common

Words Subtest, 2) the total score from the Reading Consonant Sounds Subtest, and 3) the total score from the Reading Vowel Sounds Subtest.

A one-way multivariate analysis performed on these 5 scores showed a reliable difference between the FI and ENG groups, $\underline{F}(1,104)=27.07$, $\underline{P} < .001$. Univariate analyses showed that reliable differences existed between the groups on all 5 measures. An examination of the mean scores showed that the ENG group scored reliably better that the FI group (see Table 2).

Reading Common Words Subtest

As shown in Table 2, an examination of the mean scores on the Ratio of Correct Words per minute and the number of words read correctly through Analysis obtained by the FI and ENG groups on the Reading Common Words Subtest show that the ENG group's performance was reliably better on this subtest than that of the FI group.

The reliable difference between the groups on the Ratio measure indicates that the ENG group knew more words as sight words than the FI group, and they were able to read the words faster.

In the Analysis section, where the children were permitted to "sound out" the words, the ENG group read correctly about twice as many words as the FI group. Correspondingly the Meaning Response Scores (FI 7.=7.62, ENG 7.=14.41), which are dependent on the children reading the word correctly in Analysis, show the ENG group deriving the correct meaning of these words more often than the FI group. The close relationship between the Analysis and Meaning Response scores shows that both groups were able to give a meaning for each word they read.

、からなるではままれてもないのでは、

	:	Scores	
	(Standard 1 FI	Deviations) ENG	
	n≖50	n=56	<u>F</u>
Fast Reading of Common Words			
Ratio of correct words	14.41	47.43	20.60*
per minute	(34.54)	(3 9. 55)	
Time (seconds)	58.79	26.55	
	(28.57)	(14.06)	
Total Correct (max. 20)	4.88	14.01	
	(6.34)	(4.63)	
Analysis of Common Words	7.68	16.45*	74.69*
(max. 20)	(6.85)	(3.09)	
Spelling of Common Words	23.40	33.20	120.60*
(max. 37)	(5.94)	(2.92)	
Reading Consonant Sounds	39.06	53.50	49.15*
(max. 60)	(14.51)	(4.82)	
Reading Vowel Sounds	8.60	16.36	76.28*
(max. 26)	(4.97)	(4.75)	

 $[*]_{p} < .001, df=1,104$

In the Fast Reading section, 14 children in the FI group were not instructed to read the list of words as fast as they could. Because of this difference in testing conditions, this group of children did not have a fast reading time. In order to include this group in the analysis, a mean time was calculated for them. Eleven of these children were not able to read any words under the fast reading condition, one child was able to read 2 words, one child 7 words, and one child 9 words. The mean number of seconds required by all those other children in the FI group who read 9 or less words in the Fast Reading section was assigned as the Fast Reading Time for these 14 children.

None of these results was unexpected. All previous research has shown that English instructed grade 1 children read English better than French instructed grade 1 children (e.g., Swain & Lapkin, 1981). This current research reaffirms these findings.

What is of more interest in this research is the strategies the FI group uses to read English. The reading strategies used by French Immersion grade 1 children when reading English have not been studied in previous research. A qualitative analysis of the children's errors on this subtest show that approximately 62% of their errors result from their using one of four strategies when reading English words:

- 1. Producing a French sounding word by using French decoding skills

 (36% of the errors) (e.g., MUCH /mat// as /my//*)
- Producing a real English word by decoding consonants correctly*
 (26% of the errors) and
 - a) using the French vowel sound (i.e., WIDE as "WEED" /Wiid/).
 - b) using the vowel letter name (i.e., BEST as "BEAST" /bi:st/).
 - c) guessing at the vowel sound (i.e., WARM as "WORM" /wa:m/).

^{*} An explanation of the way in which the stimuli and the children's responses will be reported is in order here. What the children see when reading aloud will be written in capital letters, i.e., MUCH, what the children read aloud will be written in capital letters with quotation marks i.e., "MOUCHE", and, when appropriate, phonetic symbols will be given in slashes, i.e., / /.

^{**} Although there is a difference between how the consonants D, T, L and R are pronounced in French and English, only the differences in the pronunciation of R are focused on in this research. The differences between the French and English pronunciations of D, T, and L are not as obvious as R, and it was assumed that the children, when reading English words with these letters, would recognize the word even if they were using the French sound in their reading.

An additional 5% of the errors involved producing a nonsense word as a result of:

- 1. spelling the word (i.e., LONG as "ELGEE" /eld3i3/).
- 2. partially decoding the word, in either French or English (i.e., COW as / K/, WIDE as "WID" /wid/).
- 3. partially decoding the word using both French and English (i.e., LIGHT as "LEEGET" / i: et /).

Thirty-three precent of the errors appeared to result from the children having no strategy to decode a word, and thus no response was given.

We expected that the FI group would often use their French decoding skills to figure out unfamiliar English words, thus producing a French sounding word (Strategy I). Analysis of the children's errors show that they did use this strategy when confronted with a word they did not know, but only in about one-third of the instances. Notably, the FI group often pronounced CH /t/ as "SH" / / in the words MUCH (41% (16)* of the errors on MUCH); I as "EE" / i:/ in reading GIRL, THINK, and WIDE (30% (32) of the errors on those words); TH as "T" / t/ in reading THINK (36% (12) of the errors on THINK) and AR as /3: f/ in reading WARM and CAR (32.5% (16) of the errors). So although the children did use this strategy of reading English words according to French decoding rules, this method was not a strategy favoured over others.

One might expect that, although the children are using French decoding skills and producing a French sounding word, perhaps the correct English meaning is being derived by the children because they are fluent speakers of English. For example, a child may read CAR as /Ka:r/, but he may be * The percentage of errors is followed by the actual number of children, given in brackets, who made the particular error.

deriving the correct meaning of the word. To determine whether or not this was the case, each child was asked to give a Meaning Response after reading each word. Thus, if a child read CAR as /Ka:r/, with the uvular "R". the Meaning Response would indicate if, in fact, he was meaning the English word CAR even while pronouncing it as a French word. This happened only once. The child did read CAR as a French word but gave a correct Meaning Response "drive in it"*. In all other cases such as this the children did not give any Meaning Response. In a few cases the children said they knew what the word meant in French. For example, when three of the children who pronounced MUCH as "MOUCHE" /muʃ/ gave a Meaning Response of "a fly", they were quick to say that this was what the word meant in French.

There were only 3 instances when the FI children, and 10 instances when the ENG children, pronounced a word correctly but could not give a Meaning Response. With the ENG group this was usually a result of shyness or quietness. But, the FI group's lack of response appeared to be for a different reason as these 3 children were not particularly shy. These 3 children correctly pronounced the word, by using a combination of French and English decoding skills, but because they were not confident in their decoding method, they did not seem sure that they had decoded a real word. Thus, even though a child read ONLY correctly, the pronunciation did not trigger a meaning for him.

Another one-quarter (26%) of the FI group's errors in this subtest consisted of some children producing a real English word by using their limited English decoding skills. Usually they used the initial letter of * One would expect, of course, that when reading words in context rather than in isolation as in this subtest, that FI children would derive the

correct meaning and give the correct English pronunciation more often.

a word and often the end letter, in combination with one of the following to the decode the vowel: French decoding skills, the vowel's letter name, or a guess at the vowel sound (Strategies 2a, b or c). Thus TOY was read as "TOE" (33% (7) of the errors on TOY), BEST was read as "BEAST" (39% (13) of the errors on BEST) and WARM was read as "WORM" (19% (16) of the errors on WARM). In all instances the children gave the appropriate Meaning Response for the word pronounced.

As previously mention, 33% of the errors in the Analysis section of the Reading Common Words Subtest resulted because the FI group did not attempt a word at all. The ENG group's errors also consisted of approximately one-third (37%) no attempts. It appears that both groups were equally as likely not to attempt a word when they did not know that word immediately, or when they were not confident in applying their limited decoding skills.

Spelling Common Words Subtest

In this second subtest, Spelling Common Words, the children were asked to use plastic letters to spell 8 different words. The quantatative analysis showed that the ENG group's performance was reliably better than the FI group's (see Table 2).

Qualitative analyses of the FI and ENG children's performance on spelling single consonants, consonant digraphs, and short and long vowel sounds are presented in the following sections.

Spelling Single Consonants

Table 3 shows the percent of children in the FI and ENG groups who correctly spelled single consonants. The FI group generally found it easy to choose the correct letter to represent a single consonant sound. As single consonant sounds are very similar in French and English, it appears that the letter representing these sounds is easily transferred, by the FI group, from one language to the other.

Spelling Single Consonants within a Word,
Mean Percent Correct

Table 3

Letter	Word	Percent Correct			
		FI	ENG •		
		n=50	n=56		
	,				
• Н	HZM	86%	100%		
м	HEM, FRAME, MULE	96%	99%		
Р	CHOP, SLOPE	99%	97%		
L	MULE	88%	967		
N	SHINE	92%	98%		

Spelling Consonant Blends

The children were asked to spell four words containing the consonant blends SL, FR, STR, and MP.*

The SL and FR blends, both at the beginning of a word, were relatively easy for the FI group to spell (see Table 4). Only 3 FI children chose C rather than S in the SL blend, which is far less than one might expect from a group of French Immersion children. One FI child, in spelling FRAME, used PHR to represent /fr/, showing an advanced understanding of letter-sound relationships.

Table 4
Spelling Consonant Blends Within a Word, Mean Percent Correct

Letter	Word	Percen	t Correct	
		FI n=50	ENG n=56	
SL	SLOPE	7,4%	, 96%	
FR	FRAME	64%	917	
STR	, STRING	387	75%	
MP	THUMP	45%	82%	

The three letter blend STR at the beginning of STRING was difficult for both the FI and ENG groups. In the FI group, of the 47 errors made on the word STRING, only 1 error was made on the letter S, but 66% (31) were made on the TR blend. The children represented the blend as S, SR, or ST.

These errors are not a result of the children not knowing which letters

^{*} In Spelling Common Words, the word or letters the children are asked to spell will be written in capital letters, i.e., SLOPE. The children's responses, what they actually spelled with the plastic letters, will be reported in capital letters and underlined, i.e., SELOP, and when appropriate, phonetic spelling will be given in slashes / /.

represent the individual sounds (see Reading Consonant Sounds Subtest), but are more likely a result of their finding it difficult to segment the 3 sounds within the blend. Although the STR blend in used in French, it is unlikely that the children have used it in their writing and, therefore, unlikely that they have had practice segmenting this blend.

The two letter blend MP at the end of THUMP accounted for a major portion of the FI group's errors on this word (67%)(18). The children correctly identified the P in all but 3 cases, but the M was usually omitted. Again, this error is probably due to a lack of practice in segmenting blends rather than not knowing which letter represents the individual sounds (see Table 3).

Spelling Consonant Digraphs

The letters chosen by the FI group to spell the digraphs shown in Table 5 suggests that they are aware that a special combination of letters is used in English to represent these sounds; they are just not sure which pairs of letters are used for each digraph and in what order. To represent TH $/\theta$ and CH $/t\int$ the FI group often used H in various combinations with T, S, and C or used a single C or H (57% (39)) of the errors). These errors show that the children are aware of English spelling patterns but have not had sufficient exposure to these patterns to use them correctly.

Another set of errors appear to be related to children's judgement of phonetic similarity among sounds (Read, 1975). Sixteen percent (5) of the children in the FI group represented CH as \underline{J} , \underline{G} , or \underline{JR} , and \underline{GR} ; 18% (6) spelled TH as \underline{F} or \underline{V} .

Table 5

Spelling Consonant Digraphs Within a Word, Mean Percent Correct

Digraph	Word	Percent Corre FI n=50	ENG n=56
СН	СНОР	32%	89%
TH	THUMP	32%	91%
SH	SHINE	24%	96%
NG	STRING	16%	91%

The SH $/\int/$ digraph in SHINE was correctly spelled by only 24% of the FI children. The majority of the errors (73%) (27) resulted from the children using French encoding skills: using $\underline{\text{CH}}$, $\underline{\text{C}}$ or $\underline{\text{H}}$, since $\underline{\text{CH}}$ represents the $/\int/$ sound in French.

The NG $/\eta$ / digraph in STRING was very difficult for most of the FI group. Only 8 children (16%) chose the correct letters. French does not have this sound, so transfer from French to English is not possible in this instance. Sixty percent (30) of the children in the FI group used \underline{N} , \underline{C} , \underline{Y} , or \underline{I} to represent this sound. Some (10%) (5) just gave up trying: "I can't remember what makes $/\eta$ /".

Spelling Short Vowel Sounds in the CVC Pattern

The short vowels E,I, U, and O were tested in the Spelling Common Words Subtest (see Table 5). The short vowel A was omitted because it was correctly identified during the pilot testing by all children. In the present study CAT was used as an example, and again all but a few children in the FI and ENG groups were able to correctly spell CAT.

Table 6

Spelling Short Vowel Sounds Within Words, Mean Percent Correct

Vowel	Word	Percent Correct			
		n=50	ENG n=56		
0	СНОР	56%	96%		
I	STRING	46%	95%		
E	HEM	38%	87.5%		
U	THUMP	16%	84%		

Short 0, like A, was correctly spelled by most of the children. It respresents a common sound in both French and English / / . Thus, here the FI group can successfully transfer their knowledge of French to English.

I, although pronounced differently in French / i:/ and English / i /.
and often incorrectly transferred by the FI group in reading (see Reading
Common Words and Reading Vowel Sounds Subtests), in the spelling subtest
was correctly used by 46% of the FI group. This may be because the sound
of I / i / within the word STRING closely resembles the I/i:/ sound in
French.

Many of the errors on E in HEM resulted from both the FI (42%)(13) and ENG(86%)(6) group's spelling the word HAM or HIM. Whereas these two words are very common to children, HEM is much less so. The children may have thought those were the words dictated. Other FI children spelled HEM as HM (22.5%) (7).

The most poorly identified vowel by both the FI and ENG groups was the short \mathbb{U} . The sound $/\Lambda$ is not common to French and English so transfer \sim

is not possible. The FI group used every vowel to represent this sound, and where it was spelled correctly (only 16% of the time), it was probably a good guess.

Spelling Long Vowels in the CVCE Pattern

The CVCE pattern was poorly known by both the FI and ENG groups. In spelling the four words SLOPE, MULE, FRAME and SHINE, the FI group's average score on the CVCE pattern was 15.5% correct compared to the ENG group's score of 60% correct. The ENG group has been taught this pattern, but it obviously has not been fully learned by many. The FI group has not been taught the CVCE pattern. The FI children either spelled the word correctly except for the final E (36% of the errors on these words) or made an error on the vowel, digraph or blend as well as omitting the final E (64% of the errors).

Summary of Spelling Common Words Subtest

As in the Reading Common Words Subtest, the FI group's errors in Spelling Common Words suggest that there is significant transfer from French consonants to English consonants, and that there is significant interference on vowels and common consonant digraphs. In spelling, we also see instances where the children just don't know which letters to choose (i.e., $/\Lambda$ /, /7) / and CVCE patterns) because the sound or pattern is not common to both languages. In these cases the FI group has no knowledge to transfer.

Reading Consonant Sounds

In the Reading Consonant Sounds Subtest a list of 25 make-believe English words was given to the children to read. They were instructed to "sound them out". Only the pronunciation of the consonants was scored; pronunciation of the vowels was ignored.

A quantitative analysis of the scores obtained from this subtest show that the ENG group scored reliably better than the FI group in Reading Consonant Sounds (see Table 2).

Qualitative analyses again show that, as in the Reading & Spelling Common Words Subtests, single consonants transfer well from French to English. Again, the consonant digraphs TH / Θ / and CH /t / show French interfering with English reading (see the Reading and Spelling Common Words Subtests); and, again, consonant digraphs which are unfamiliar to the FI group, because they are not common to both languages or infrequently used in French, are incorrectly read as the children have had little or no practice reading them. The FI group also shows difficulties in blending together consonant sounds which are familiar as single elements. Because of these difficulties the FI group's scores on the Reading Consonant Sounds Subtest are lower than the ENG group's

Although the children knew they were reading make-believe English words, some other instances of the interference of French with English reading surface on this subtest. Some children did not pronounce the final consonant in a word, because that consonant would not be sounded in French (i.e., SHRAX as /r & /). In other cases, the final consonants were sounded in an extremely exaggerated manner (i.e., MALD as /rowelda/). Surfacing more often in this subtest than in the two previous subtests

were reading C / K / as / S /, the French "J" / 3 / for / 5 /, and the uvular French "R".

Single Consonant Sounds

Y at the beginning of the word YAPH was the most difficult sound for both groups (FI 46% correct, ENG 86% correct). The FI group confused Y /j'/with "W", gave no response, or read /di/, /V/, or /Z/. The /j / is probably not emphasized in English classrooms and is rarely seen at the beginning of a French word; the FI children may never have had to decode a Y at the beginning of a word before this test. Of the ENG group who erred on Y, 50% (4) of the children pronounced it as /W/. Perhaps these children are simply confused about the sounds represented by the less often used final letters of the alphabet.

C in CLAND and T at the end of several words were read correctly by 74% of the FI group. However, those children erring on these consonant sounds show that French is interfering with their English reading:

Table 7

Reading Single Consonant Sounds, Mean Percent Correct

Con	sonant at Begi	nning of a Percent		C	Consonant at E	nd of a Wo	
		FI	ENG			FI	ENG
	Test Word	n=50	n=56		Test Word	n=50	n=56
В	BLASH	88%	98%	В	SPLAB	46%	59%
С	CLAND	74%	96%				
D,	DRANT	90%	98%	D	CLAND	80%	100%
F				F	STRAF	70%	93%
Ĝ	GRACK	84%	93%	ø			
H	HAPT	66%	98% ~				
J	JANK	54%	96%	J	KNAJ	68%	78.5
ζ				K	J AN K CHASK	72%	91%
Ĺ			also tills was	L	PHALL	78%	100%
4	MALD	94%	96%				
P				P	THRAMP	82%	100%
5	SWAV STRAF SPLAB	93%	99%				
r				T	HAPT VACT DRANT ZAST	74%	93%
7	VACT	92%	87.5%	V	SWAV	86%	93%
				X	SHRAX	46%	87.5
•	YAPH	46%	86%				
:	ZAST	92%	95%				

C /K/ was pronounced as /S/ in 61.5% (8) of the errors when reading HAPT, VACT, DRANT, and ZAST, the T was not sounded in 62% (8) of the errors.

The FI group correctly read V in VACT slightly better than the ENG group. V, a more common letter in French than English, and representing the same sound in both languages, transfers very well. B at the end of SPLAB was read poorly by both groups. Those children making errors pronounced B as "D" or "P".

Reading Consonant Blends

On the average the FI group scored approximately 20% lower on reading consonant blends than they scored on reading single consonant sounds (see Tables 7 and 8). All the tested consonant blends at the beginning of a word are also used in French, except SW. However, two are only rarely used, STR and SPL. Perhaps because the children are just beginning to read French, they have not had much experience reading any of the blends tested here.

Of the errors in reading SWAV, 59% (10) of the FI group omitted the W. The consonant W can be pronounced as /w / or / v / in French, and this may have confused some of the FI children. If W was decoded as /v /, this sound would be repeated within the word and would make it very difficult to read. The blends containing R in GRACK, DRANT, and STRAF revealed the exceptional French accent these children are acquiring: the uvular "R" /r / was often used. This pronunciation of / r / was scored as an error for two reasons:

1. The children were told they were reading English and when these children are speaking English they do not use the uvular "R".

2. Some of the children changed their pronunciation from the uvular

"R" to the English "R" after decoding the word.

Of the errors on these 3 R blends, 28% (18) used the uvular "R". Another 25% (16) of the errors resulted from the FI group using the letter name for

"R" (i.e., GRACK as "GARACK" / 90:00 K/).

Table 8
Reading Consonant Blends, Mean Percent Correct

Consonant	t Blends a	Beginning Percent	g of a Word Correct	Conso	nant Blends	at End o	
Cons. Blends	Test Words	FI n=50	ENG n=56	Cons. Blends	Test Words	FI n=50	ENG n=56
BL	BLASH	68%	96%	PT	HAPT	64%	91%
SW	SWAV	66%	82%	NK	JANK	62%	93%
GR	GRACK	54%	95% .	LD	MALD	72%	96%
CL	CLAND	64%	91%	MP	THRAMP	68%	98%
DR	DRANT	58%	98%	ND	CLAND	68%	89%
STR	STRAF	54%	93%	CT	VACT	58%	84%
SPL	SPLAB	58%	82%	NT	DRANT	66%	89%
				SK	CHASK	62%	79%
				ST	ZAST	60%	87.5%

Lack of practice in blending letters together seems to be the most likely explanation for the FI group's difficulty in reading BL, CL, and SPL. Each of the single consonants in these blends was successfully read by the FI group in this subtest (see Table 7). Also the children often read the single consonant sound correctly within the blend, but they could not blend the sounds together (i.e., BLASH as $/b \approx 1$).

Consonant blends at the end of a word showed a similar pattern of errors to those read at the beginning of a word. All the lefters but one, N, were tested as single consonant sounds and were read well by the FI group (see Table 7); N was only read in blends. Only on the CT blend in VACT did the FI group score below 60%. Of the errors on this blend, 33% (7) can be attributed to French interference: pronouncing C /K/ as "S" / S / or "CH" / \int / \cdot \

Reading Consonant Digraphs

Although the FI group did not read the consonant digraphs as well as the ENG group, the digraphs PH, KN and WR were not read well by either group (see Table 9). Because KN and WR are not used in French one would not expect the children to read these digraphs well. PH is used only rarely in French and many of the FI group's errors again show French interfering, with H pronounced as "SH" $/\int$ (33% (25) of the errors). The uvular "R" surfaced again in 28% (11) of the errors on WR. Errors common to both the FI and ENG groups were sounding out each letter of the digraph, inserting a vowel between the two members of the digraph, or disregarding one on the consonants.

Table 9

Reading Consonant Digraphs, Mean Percent Correct

	Beginning o	f a Word	 		End of	a Word	
	Test Word	Percent FI n=50	Correct ENG n=56		Test Word	Percent FI n=50	Correct ENG n=56
TH.	THRAMP	38%	95%	TH	WHATH	40%	89%
Н	SHRAX	64%	96%	SH	BLASH	62%	100%
Н	PHALL	26%	39%	РĦ	, YAPH	22%	32%
R	WRANG	22%	45%	*			
N	KNAJ	8%	18%)			-
H	CHASK	20%	87.5%				~~~
H	WHATH	50%	98%				
		,		NG	WRANG	48%	86%
	•			CK	GRACK	74%	91%

SH was read correctly by most of the children. This is quite different from the Spelling Common Words Subtest where only 26% of the FI group chose SH to spell SHINE. So, although SH, as representing ///, is not firmly established for these children, it is far easier for them to decode these letters than to spell them.

TH at the beginning and ending of a word was read poorly by the FI group, just as it was spelled poorly. The children generally read TH as the French sound "T" / t / (in THRAMP, 68% (21) of the TH errors, in WHATH, 40% (12) of the errors). Some read TH as /tf/ (15% (9) of the errors), and the uvular "R" was used by 16% (5) of the children in the THR blend.

CH again showed the greatestamount of French interference on reading English: 54% (22) of the FI group read CH as "SH" $/\int/$.

CK at the end of the word was read well by the FI group. There were no consistent errors on this consonant digraph. Only 2 children pronounced the C as "S" / 5 /. One child pronounced these letters as "SH" / \int /. probably confusing CK with CH. The NG digraph was read poorly, but no consistent pattern of errors was apparent.

To summarize the children's reading of consonant sounds, the FI group's grade 1 reading performance shows interference on a few single consonant sounds: H,J, and X. However, in general, the transference from French to English on single consonant sounds is very good. Blends containing R show some French interference, as the uvular "R" is being used by some of the children, and, in blends where T ends the word, the T is sometimes not pronounced. However, difficulties in blending consonants do not seem to result from French interference or from not knowing the consonant sounds, but from having insufficient practice in blending. Digraphs are difficult for these children; they generally read the French sound for TH and CH: /t/ and $/\int/$. In any combination of letters with H, the children often pronounce the H as "SH" $/\int/$. They, like the ENG group, have difficulty with the less common digraphs KN, WR, and PH.

Reading Vowel Sounds

The quantitative analysis of the scores from the Reading Vowels

Sounds Subtest showed that the ENG group scored reliably better than the

FI group (see Table 2).

Reading vowel sounds was the most difficult subtest for the FI group whose mean score was half that of the ENG group's (see Table 2). The FI group's instruction in vowel sounds appears to interfere with their

English reading, as transference of vowel sounds from French to English is often inappropriate and results in an incorrect response. Reading vowel sounds was also the most difficult of the subtests for the ENG group.

In this subtest, as in the Reading Consonant Sounds Subtest, the children were asked to soundout a list of make-believe English words.

A qualitative analysis of the FI group's errors suggests they used one of the following strategies to read these words:

- 1. Used English decoding skills (i.e., VAB as "VAB" /vaeb/)/
- 2. Used French decoding skills (i.e., VUB as / vyb /).
- 3. Used the letter name (i.e., MOIT as "MOE-ITE" /mouait /).

"MOE-IT" /mouit / or "MOE-EET" /mouit/) or, they had no strategy to read the vowel sounds and, thus, gave no response.

Reading Short Vowel Sounds in the CVC Pattern

As expected, when reading short vowels which have a different pronunciation in French and English there is a great deal of French interference: I is read as / i: / and U is read as / y /. In those words where the vowels are pronounced the same in French and English, one would expect a great deal of transference from French to English. This transference occurred with A but not with O. Perhaps the children in FI classes have not been introduced to O and therefore used the letter naming strategy most often (see Table 10).

Table 10

Reading Short Vowel Sounds, Mean Percent Correct

		Percent	Correct*	FI Group Strategies				
Vowe1	Test Words	FI ENG n=50 n=56		French decoding	Letter name	Other (including no response)		
E	VEB	26%	82%	8%	43%	49%		
I	VIB	22%	87.5%	51%	31%	18%		
A	VAB	80%	91%	vowel sound is same as Eng.	60%	40%		
` O	VOB '	18%	80%	vowel sound is same as Eng.	85%	15%		
U.	VUB	14%	842	63%	26%	11%		

Reading Long Vowels in the CVCE Pattern

Neither the FI or ENG groups scored particularly well in reading vowels in the CVCE pattern, just as testher group spelled this pattern well (see Table 11). Once again French reading instruction interferes substantially with reading vowel sounds in PABE, PIBE, and PUBE (see Col. 3, Table 11). Several children pronounced the final consonant - E as one might in French (i.e., /pacb^ /). The FI group generally pronounced U as /y/, which closely approximates the correct English pronunciation as in tube. Only 1 child in the ENG group pronounced U as /y/; the ENG group most often read U as in cute, following the CVCE rule exactly.

O, read correctly by many of the FI group, may have been read by using the letter name rather than by using the CVCE pattern. When one considers the FI group's low scores on the other vowels, this seems to be the most likely explanation for the FI group's correct responses.

Table 11

Reading Vowels in the CVCE Pattern, Mean Percent Correct

	7	Percent C	orrect	FI (French	gies Other	
Vowels	T e st Words	' FI n=50	ENG n=56	decoding	Eng. Short vowel	(including no response)
A	PABE	2%	77%		vowel sound : same as Fren	
I	PIBE	18%	66%	52%	24%	24%
U .	PUBE	50%	55%	61%*	13%	26%
E	PEBE	24%	66%	34%	30%	36%
0	POBE	46%	57%	· - · -	vowel sound : same as Frenc	

^{*} This 61% included those children who read PUBE as /pyb/ and although scored as a correct answer this response was a result of French decoding.

Approximately 20% of all errors on this subtest seem to be a direct result of the FI group's unfamiliarity with the CVCE pattern. These children use the English short vowel sound (see Col. 4, Table 11), but, as the CVCE pattern is not used in French, they had no knowledge of it to transfer to their reading of English. Sixteen percent (8) of the FI group used the short vowel sound consistently when reading CVCE words.

Reading Vowel Digraphs and Diphthongs

Vowel digraphs and diphthongs were generally read poorly by both groups, with a few exceptions (see Table 12). The inclusion of MAY in this subtest was due to an error in the test construction, and the high ENG score on this vowel digraph is probably because it was read as a sight word rather than by decoding the AY digraph. MEE was read well by both groups; here, the strategy of spelling the vowels to read the word probably greatly increased the number of FI group's correct responses. The OU and OW digraphs are transferable

from French to English as the sounds they represent in both languages are similar. Thus, there were high scores on FOUP and FOW by the FI group.

Table 12

Reading Vowel Digraphs and Diphthongs, Mean Percent Correct

Vowels	Test Words	Percent Co FI n=50	errect ENG n=56	% of errors due to French decoding*
YC	, моч	24%	48%	16%
ĄŸ	MAY	38%	91%	32%
EE	MEE	62%	96%	• 47%
ΑI	MAIT	22%	64%	26%
ΟI	MOIT	12%	217	23%
טנ	FOUP	48%	25%	vowel sound is same as Eng.
LA	FEAP	182	7 5 %	0%
) K	FOW	62%	80%	22%**
स	FAW	16%	34%	56%
90	FOOP	36%	64%	0%
DA .	FOAP	22%	68%	32%

^{*} Only the French decoding strategy is reported here as the other errors were too varied and inconsistent to reveal any pattern.

In reading vowel digraphs and diphthongs some of the FI group are again using French decoding skills, but, generally, the errors followed no consistent pattern. Some children read the vowel letter name, others read English

^{**} Two readings for FOW were considered correct: "OW" as in cow or as in yellow. Of the 62% of the FI group who read FOW correcty, 22% (7) read /fow/, which although correct, is also an instance of using French decoding strategies.

short vowel sounds, and still others read a combination of letter names with English and French vowel sounds. The children obviously were unfamiliar with most of the vowel digraphs and diphthongs.

Reading R-Controlled Vowels

Again both the FI and ENG groups scored poorly on the R-controlled vowels (see Table 13). OR and UR seem to be transferable from French.

NOR, being a French word, was often read as such by the children, but then they changed their pronunciation to a more English sounding word. The same thing was done when the children read NUR. French interfering with English reading was also seen in their reading of NIR and NAR. The uvular "R" was used by about 7 children (14%) when reading each word.

TABLE 13

	Reading R-Controlled Vowels, Mean Percent Correct								
Vowels	Test Word	Percent C FI n=50	orrect ENG n=56	FI Gr French decoding	oup Strate Letter name	egies Other			
IR	NIR	12%	30%	61%	21%	18%		<u>.</u>	
OR	NOR	58%	.75%	19%	38%	43%	•		
ER	NER	16%	14%	17%	55%	28%			
AR	NAR	48氪	62.5%	62%	15%	23%		1	
UR	NUR	50%	46%	56%	8%	36 <i>%</i>			

In summary, both groups scored poorly in reading vowel sounds. The FI group read all sounds poorly except those few letters and letter combinations which are pronounced similarly in French and English: A in the CVC pattern; OR, UR, U in the CVCE pattern; OU and OW. O in the CVC pattern, although pronounced similarly in French and English, is not fead well by the FI group.

The FI group appears to use several strategies for reading the vowel sounds tested, but use no one strategy consistently. It appears that, with a few exceptions, they are not familiar with decoding vowels. However, even if they could decode the vowel sounds using French decoding strategies, this would often produce an incorrect English response as the vowel sounds are very different.

Oral Reading and Comprehension Test

Three passages from the Standard Reading Inventory (McCracken, 1966) were given to the children to read: a Pre-primer passage, a Primer passage, and a Grade One passage. Only if the child scored above 60% on the Total Comprehension section of the oral reading passage was the child asked to read the next, more difficult passage. All the ENG group read the Preprimer passage. All but 9 FL children (82%) read the Pre-primer passage; those who did not either began to read it and could not read any words and so were asked to stop reading, or they were not asked to try to read the passage because the tester judged, on the basis of their poor performance on the previous Reading and Decoding Test, that they would be unable to read it. In one case, a child simply made up a story, in English, which had no relationship to the print on the page. All the ENG group scored above 60% on the Pre-primer total comprehension section, so all were asked to read the Primer passage. However, only 44% of the FI group did well enough on the Pre-primer total comprehension section to go on to read the Primer selection. Ninety-three percent of the ENG group scored well enough on the Primer total comprehension section to then go on to read the Grade One passage compared to only 40% of the FI group.

Because of a misunderstanding between the examiners about the procedures that were to be followed during the Oral Reading test, passages were given to both the ENG and FI groups under two different conditions. The different testing conditions are described below. Testing Condition I (ENG I, n=45, FI I, n=31):

- The children were told only the title of the story and, while they
 were reading, were told proper names if errors were made on names. No
 other errors were corrected by the tester.
- The rate reflects only the children's reading, without examiner corrections or prompting.
- Word recognition errors are those errors children made which change the meaning.
- 4. Total Accuracy is the sum of word recognition errors plus fluency errors (all other errors which do not change meaning, i.e., substitutions, repetitions, and self-corrections).
- 5. Comprehension was tested in two parts:
 - a. Recall, in which the children were asked to tell everything they could about the story without the aid of the text, and
 - b. Total Comprehension, where the children were expected to answer questions about information in the text which they did not give during the recall section. Total comprehension is the sum of items given during recall plus the number of questions answered correctly. Again the child did not use the text to answer comprehension questions.

Testing Condition II (FI II. n=19, ENG II. n=11):

1. The children were given the passage to read and told the title, but if

they made errors during oral reading or could not read a word at all, the examiner told them the correct word.

- The rate reflects examiner corrections and promptings as well as the children's reading.
- Word recognition errors: same as above.
- Total Accuracy: sáme as above.
- 5. Comprehension was tested in one way only. The children were permitted to use the text to answer the questions which the examiner asked.

To quantitatively compare the FI and ENG children's performance on the Oral Reading and Comprehension Test, six one-way multivariate analyses were done, one on each set of scores from each of the three oral reading passages administered under Testing Condition I and Testing Condition II.

Under Testing Condition I, multivariate analysis of the Pre-primer scores showed there were reliable differences between the FI and ENG groups, \underline{F} (5, 66) = 12.05, \underline{p} < .001. The univariate analysis showed that reliable differences between the FI and ENG groups occurred on all the measures obtained from the Pre-primer passage (see Table 14). An examination of the mean scores in Table 14 shows that the ENG group read the Pre-primer passage better than the FI group. On the Primer passage which was read by only those children who successfully comprehended the Pre-primer passage, the multivariate analysis showed no difference between the FI and ENG groups, \underline{F} (5, 51) = 1.79, \underline{p} .05. On the Grade One passage, the multivariate analysis again showed reliable differences between the FI and ENG group, \underline{F} (5, 45) $\underline{*}$ 2.49, \underline{p} .05. The univariate analysis of the scores from the Grade One passage show that a reliable difference is found between the groups only on the total comprehension section (see

Table 14). An inspection of the mean scores obtained on the Total Comprehension section shows that the FI group's scores are better than the ENG group's scores. However, one must remember that only 10 FI students read this passage compared to 41 ENG students. These 10 FI students are the exceptionally good English readers in their group, whereas the ENG group consisted of all children except those 4 poorest readers who did not successfully read the Primer passage.

Under Testing Condition II the multivariate analysis showed reliable differences between the FI and ENG groups on all 3 oral reading passages: on the Pre-primer passage, F (4, 20) = 6.89, p < .01; on the Primer passage, F (4, 16) = 9.10, p < .001; and on the Grade One passage, F (4, 16) = 4.12, p < .05. Univariate analyses showed that reliable differences are found on reading rate and word recognition accuracy on all 3 passages (see Table 14). The Total Accuracy scores of the FI and ENG groups were found to be reliably different on the Pre-primer and. Grade One passages. The mean scores reported in Table 14 show that on each of these measures the ENG group's performance is superior to the performance of the FI group.

Because the children who were tested under Condition II were helped with word recognition errors, which affected their total accuracy and comprehension, and because they were able to use the text to answer comprehension questions, a greater percentage of the group read each oral reading passage than under Testing Condition I. In Testing Condition I only 38.7% of the FI group read the Primer passage and only 32% read the Grade One passage. In Condition II 52% of the FI group read both the Primer and Grade One oral reading passages. Many of the FI children who read the Primer and Grade One passages under Testing Condition II

			_							
,	· .	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		(67,		· ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		65.
		riate F's		F(df=1,49)	77.	1.04	1.22	.007	4.76*	
		, and Univariate		Grade One Scores Deviations) ENG n=41	80.80 (41.23)	98% (2.94)	93% (5.16)	50% (1.61)	78.5% (1.01)	
		Standard Deviations		Mean tandard FI n=10	67.90 (43.28)	97% (2.86)	89% (7.21)	51% (2.07)	87% (1.41)	
				(S) (S	2.20	5.83	2.12	.00	1.57	
·		n Scores,		Scores Deviations) ENG	89.93 (43.03)	98,5% (1.89)	93% (4.19)	37.5 % (1.71)	.82% (1.39)	
-		Table 14 Test; Mean	-	Mean (Standard FI n=12	69.08 (44.19)	95 % (5.17)	90% (6.84)	37% 1.92)	7 6% (1.92)	
			n=45)	(s E(df=1,70)						
		Compr	ENG	· j	34.62*	46.34*	56.72*	10.80*	44.57#	
		Reading and Comprehension	(FI, n=31	Scores Deviations) ENG	91.31 (44.96)	99X (1.25)	96% (1.59)	59% (1.53)	96%	
		from Oral Re	Condition I	Mean (Standard FI	38.25 (39.32)	65 X (15.42)	54% (17.41)	32X (1.84)	\$0% (2, 22)	
		Regults fr	Testing Co	-	(мын)	Word Recognition Accuracy	ccuracy	Comprehension	Comprehension	50.
		w.	Action of the control	Variable	Rate (W	Word Recogn Accuracy	Total Accuracy	Recall Compr	Total Compre	> 2 *

			•		l .				-	
				19)				,		66.
	- -			<u>F</u> (df=1,19)	5.57*	9.72*	4.62*	2.34		
	·	•	Grade One	Scores Deviations) ENG n=11	71.36 (39.52)	97 % (1.97)	94% (3.55)	89%		
			<u>.</u>	Mean tandard FI n=10	34.90	8 6% (7.93)	84% (8.90)	81% (1.52)		
	t.)		-	ns) (S <u>F</u> (df=1,19)	5.65*	9.92*	3.35	4.09		·
	e 14 (cont.)		Primer	Scores Deviations) ENG n=11	81.81 (39.45)	99%	94%	98 % (.40)		
	Table 14	·	7	Mean (Standard FI n=10	44.90	89% (6.28)	88% (6.92)	91% 1.10)	2	
- 	-	n=11)		1						
		ENG,		ns) <u>F</u> (df=1,23)	14.80*	406.6	6.56*	1.73		
		(FI, n-19,	Pre-Primer	Scores Deviations) ENG n=11	94.0 (40.78)	99.6%	94% (2.64)	94%		
 		ition II	ă	Mean (Standard FI n=14	37.57 (36.62)	78 % (10.59)	(10.99)	81% (1.54)		
		Testing Condition II		the spring and spring	(мБм)	nition	Accuracy	comprehension		50
		- <u>.</u>	•	Variable	Rate (W	Word Recog	Total Ac	Total Compri		> a *

r.

Condition I as their Total Comprehension scores would not have reached 60% without the help they were given on word recognition errors and the aid of the text to answer questions. Because more less-able readers went on to read the Primer and Grade One reading passages under Testing Condition II, their poorer scores deflated the group's mean. Thus, at all three reading levels the ENG group is found to be reading reliably better than the FI group.

As well as quantitative information about the FI groups' oral reading, it is interesting to consider some qualitative data based on the FI children's errors in oral reading. Those FI children who were able to read the Grade One English passage made errors which one would expect only from good readers (Weber, 1970). Their errors generally resulted from the children predicting an upcoming word, misreading the actual word because of their predictions, and then self-correcting.

There were 21 FI children who could not read further than the Preprimer passage. Of these 46% read the passage as if it were French rather than English text. For example, one child read MOTHER LOOKED UP as /meticial luked yp /. These children read with a French accent and used French decoding skills. Other children in the FI group who found it very difficult to read the Pre-primer passage, attempted to use the initial letter in a word to produce and English word; this usually resulted in an incorrect response which rarely made sense. For example, one FI child read I SEE SOMETHING YOU PLAY WITH, SAID MOTHER as "I SIT SO MUCH YOU PLAY WILL, SO OH MUM."

The kinds of English decoding errors seen in the previous Reading and Decoding Test which were due to FI children inappropriately transferring French decoding skills to English words also surfaces in the Oral Reading Test. French decoding particularly interfered in reading the vowels U and I and in reading the consonant digraphs TH and CH. Thus, UP was often read as /yp/, WITH was often read as /wi:t/ and CHILDREN was read as /sildra/.

Maze Test

A one-way multivariate analysis done on the scores from the Maze Test showed that the FI and ENG groups' performance on this test was reliably different, \underline{F} (3, 102) = 22.49, \underline{p} < .001. The univariate analyses showed that reliable differences were found between the two groups on their scores from page 1 and page 2 and on the total time taken to complete the task (see Table 15). The mean scores from this test, reported in Table 15, show that this difference is due to the superior performance of the ENG group on the Maze Test.

Most of the FI group scored very poorly on this measure of silent reading comprehension. All the FI children appeared to attempt to read the passages and do the task, but for most of the children it proved to be far too difficult. Fifty percent of the FI group used the maximum time, 10 minutes, to do this Maze Test, whereas only 1 child in the ENG group required the full time. And, although many of the FI group took the maximum time, 27.5% of their responses in the second passage were omissions compared to only 7% omissions by the ENG group on the second passage.

Table 15

Maze Test Results; Means, Standard Deviations,
Univariate F's, and Range

	Mean S (Standard			
	n=50			
Mean Score, Page 1				
(max. 7)	3.34 (2.28)	5.69 (1.43)	41.15*	
Mean Score, Page 2 (max. 8)	3.06	6.24	47.56*	
	(2.72)	(1.99)	7	
Mean Total Score		- * - *	•	
(max. 15)	6.4	11.92	•	
Mean Total Time			2. * .	
(max. 10 min.)	7.98 (2.52)	5.02 (2.28)	40.30*	
Mean Omissions (Max. 15)	3.52	√. 62		
Range	0 - 15	3 - 15		

a change in n due to a child's absence over 3 testing sessions

^{*} P < .001

Teacher Interview

All the teachers of the FI and ENG children were interviewed to examine some of their Language Arts activities. There were 4 FI teachers and 7 ENG teachers involved. Each was extremely cooperative and willing to give information about their Language Arts program. The results were as follows:

1. Reading Aloud

All the ENG teachers and all but one FI teacher read aloud to their class in the language of instruction. One FI teacher did not read aloud because she felt the vocabulary in a French story was too advanced for the children in her grade 1 FI class. Two of the FI teachers occasionally read to their class in English because the children requested it. One FI class exchanged with an ENG grade 1 class in the school twice a week for stories in English.

2. Use of the Library

All the children used the school library. In one FI school the children borrowed French books only, one per week, while in the other FI school the children borrowed one French and one English book per week. These teachers reported that the FI children preferred the English books, and when given a choice by the librarian as to which she would read to them, English or French, they generally chose English.

3. Silent Reading

Only one of the FI classes did not have a silent reading period in their classroom. Three of the ENG classes did not have a scheduled silent reading period, but these teachers reported that the children in their classes read silently everyday. All other FI and ENG classes have silent

reading periods every day in the language of instruction. In all classes the children read library books and readers during this time.

4. Writing

All but one of the FI classes spent instructional time on writing.

Two FI teachers had children in their classes who write stories once a week. Six of the ENG teachers had their classes write daily journals, and 4 of the ENG teachers had the children write stories occasionally.

Only 1 ENG teacher reported that the children in her class did not write very often.

5. FI teachers instructing in English Language Arts

None of the FI teachers give help or instruction in either reading or in writing English. As one teacher said "This is French Immersion."

They get English all the time outside of school."

Parent Interview

A random sample of parents from both the FI and ENG groups was interviewed over the telephone. This was done to determine if there were any differences between the parent's attitudes about reading or in how they help their children with reading. All parents were willing and eager to talk with the researcher, and seemed supportive of the research project and most interested in their child's reading development. The results were as follows:

Do you read aloud to your child?

All but one FI parent read aloud to her/his child. The one parent who did not read aloud used to do so but now her child is an independent reader and reads for himself. Sixty-five percent of the FI parents read aloud daily, and 30% said they read aloud on most days.

Of the ENG parents, 78% read aloud to their children. Of those parents who did not read aloud, only one of the parents used to do so but does not any longer because her child read independently now. The remaining parents said they did not read aloud to their children.

Only 23% of the ENG parents read aloud everyday to their child; 15% read aloud most days, 23% read aloud about twice a week and 15% rarely read aloud.

2. FI parents: In what language do you read to your child?

The 95% of the FI parents who read aloud to their child were asked whether they read in French or in English. Forty-two percent of the parents read only in English, 16% read only in French, and 42% read aloud in both languages.

3. Does your child read at home?

Forty-five percent of the FI parents said their child read at home;

40% said their child read only a little at home because their child was

just beginning to learn how to read; and 15% of the FI parents said their

child did not read at home, but these parents added that their child did

look at books and that the reason why their child did not read at home was

because he/she could not read yet.

Ninety-two percent of the ENG groups' parents said their child read at home. Only 4% of the parents said their child only read a little and another 4% said their child did not read at home.

4. FI parents: In what language does your child read?

The FI parents were asked if their child read French or English books at home. Of those children who do often read at home, 66% read only English books, 22% read only French books, and 12% read both French and

English books. Of those children who read a little at home, none read only English; 37.5% only read French books; and 62.5% read both French and English books.

5. Do you and your child use the Public Library?

The majority of parents in both groups used the public library with their child. Of the FI parents, 60% used it often, 10% used it rarely, and 30% did not use the public library at all. Of the ENG parents, 54% used it often, 4% used it rarely, and 42% never used the public library with their child.

6. FI parents: In what language are the books you borrow from the library?

If the parents used the library they were asked if they borrowed French or English books. Fifty-eight percent of the parents said they borrowed only English books, 42% said they borrowed both French and English books, and no parents in the FI group borrowed only French books.

- 7. The child's place in the family.

 This question revealed no interesting results.
- 8. Television habits.

The results showed that the majority of children in both the FI and ENG groups watched television.

Most children in both groups watched cartoons and public television children's programs. Most of the children watched Sesame Street when they were younger. Some children now watch situation comedies and adventure shows.

Most parents in both groups felt their children had received some valuable learning from watching television (80% of the FI parents and 69% of the ENG parents).

9. FI parents: Does your child watch French Television?

According to their parents, 40% of the FI group watched some French television while 60% of the FI group watched only English television.

10. Do you help your child with reading?

The majority of parents in both groups said they helped their child with reading. Of the FI parents, 80% helped their child a lot, 5% a little and 15% did not help their children with reading. When asked why they did not help their children with reading the parents said their child was "not keen" on reading, did not need help because he could read himself now, or because their child was not reading yet and so they could not help yet, but that they did continue to read aloud to their child.

Of the ENG parents, 76% said they helped their child alot with reading, 12% helped a little, and 12% did not help their children with reading. Those who did not help their children with reading did not feel they needed to because their children were independent readers or their children were highly motivated and practiced reading alone without their parents' help.

Most parents in both groups help their child with reading by helping to sound out words, or by telling the correct word if their child could not sound it out.

11. FI parents: In what language do you help your child to read?

The majority of FI parents helped their child to read English (52%).

Only 18% of the parents helped their child only in French and 30% helped their child in both languages. Many of the parents said they could not read French well enough to help their child.

At one FI school, parents were urged not to teach their children how to read English at home to avoid confusing the children. Perhaps even more of

the FI parents would have helped their children to read English if this request had not been made by the school.

"Good English Readers"

A subset of the FI and ENG groups was able to read successfully the grade 1 oral reading passage with 60% or better total comprehension. These children, tested at the end of grade 1, demonstrated their ability to read grade 1 material and thus were labelled "Good English Readers". Quantitative and qualitative analyses were done to compare the performance of the FI and, ENG "Good English Readers".

The 10 FI and 41 ENG children who read the Grade One passage under Testing Condition I were included in this group. Those 2 FI and 4 ENG children in Testing Condition II, who successfully read the Grade One passage without help or prompting from the examiner, were also included because their performance was independent of the examiner. Table 16 shows the results from the Oral Reading and Comprehension Test for the 12 FI and 45 ENG "Good English Readers".

A one-way multivariate analysis was performed on the scores obtained by the "Good English Readers" on the Reading and Decoding Test. This analysis showed that there were reliable differences between the FI and ENG groups, \underline{F} (5, 51) = 6.11, \underline{p} < .001. Univariate analyses on the five measures examined showed that there were reliable differences between the groups on the Spelling Common Words Subtest, \underline{F} (1, 55) = 20.62, \underline{p} < .001, and on the Reading Vowel Sounds Subtest, \underline{F} (1, 55) = 5.43, \underline{p} < .05. Inspection of the mean scores showed that this difference was due to the better performance of the ENG group (see Table 17).

Results from the Oral Reading and Comprehension Test, "Good English Readers", Mean Scores and Standard Deviations

	Pre-Pr	-Primer	Primer	mer	Grade One	One	
	Mean Sc (Standard De F1 n=12	Scores Deviations) ENG n™45	Mean Scores (Standard Deviations) F1 ENG n*12 {n*45	cores eviations) ENG fn*45	Mean Scores (Standard Deviations) F1 ENC n=12 n=45	ores viations) ENG n=45	
Rate (WPM)	81.08	98.73	80.92	97.87	71.42	83.89 (41.30)	
Word Recognition Accuracy	97% (1.66)	766 (76°)	98.5%	%66 (76.)	97% (2.75)	98 x (2.83)	. .
Total*Accuracy	94%. (3,53)	97% (1.44)	94%	95%	91% (7.12)	93% (5.06)	
Recall Comprehension	74% (1.25)	57 % (1.53)	41% (1.66)	39% (1.68)	51% (2.08)	50.5% (1.61)	
Total Comprehension	95 % (.62)	96 % (345.)	85% (1.44)	86 % (1.03)	89% (1,738)	79.6 x (1.04)	
			·				76.
^a For recall comprehension only, FI, was not tested.	ion only, Fi	, n=10 and ENG n=		se under Tes	ting Condition	41, because under Testing Condition II recall comprehension	rehension

Table 17

Results from the Reading and Decoding Test, "Good English Readers", Mean Scores, Standard Deviations and Univariate F's

restant e la completa de la completa La		Scores Deviations)	energia de la companya de la company	
	FI n=12	ENG n=45	<u>F</u>	
		•		
Ratio of Correct Words per minute	53.56 (55.56)	54.52 (40.84)	. 004	•
Analysis (max. 20)	17 ₋₅₀ (3.18)	17.07 (2.96)	.197	·
Spelling Common Words (max. 37)	28.16 (4.68)	33.29 (3.09)	20.62*	
Reading Consonant Sounds	53.00 (3.62)	53.87	.327	
Reading Vowel Sounds (max. 26)	13.00 (4.71)	16.64 (4.84)	5.43*	
			-, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -	

^{*}p <.05, df = 1, 55.

A qualitative analysis to determine the strategies used by the FI "Good English Readers" was done on the two subtests where reliable differences were found between the FI and ENG groups. In the Spelling Common Words Subtest, analysis revealed many of the same errors seen in the total FI group.

Particularly, these 12 FI children found it difficult to spell the consonant blends MP (33% correct) and STR (50% correct); the consonant digraph NG

(41% correct); and the CVCE pattern (25% correct). Errors on the consonant digraphs SH, CH and TH also occurred (66% correct). Some of this group's spelling errors resulted from their reading instruction in French interfering with their English spelling (i.e., SHINE as CHINE) but more often their errors resulted from an unfamiliarity with encoding an English spelling pattern (i.e., the CVCE pattern).

Examination of the performance of the FI "Good English Readers" on the Reading Vowel Sounds Subtest showed that these children seem to be more consistent in the strategies they use to read vowel sounds than the total FI group. Of the errors made when reading the CVC pattern, 44% resulted from pronouncing the make-believe words as French words. When reading the CVCE partern, these children either read it correctly (18%), pronounced it as a French word (47%), or read the CVCE pattern as the CVC pattern (35%). The children scored quite well on the 11 make-believe words containing the more unfamiliar vowel digraphs and diphthongs, reading them correctly 59% of the When errors occurred, the strategy generally used was to sound out each letter of the digraph or diphthong. Fifty-three percent of the children correctly read the R-controlled vowels. Of the errors on this set of vowels, 61% resulted from the children pronouncing the words as a French word. In summary, on the Reading Vowel Sounds Subtest we see some interference from French reading instruction even for these "Good English Readers" when they are asked to read make-believe words constructed from more difficult spelling patterns.

A multivariate analysis performed on the scores obtained by the "Good English Readers" on the Maze Test showed a reliable difference between the FI and ENG groups, F(2, 54) = 3.176, p = .05. Univariate analyses of

the total scores obtained and the total time taken to complete the test showed no difference between the two groups on the total score, $\underline{F}(1, 55) = .65, \underline{P} > .05$, but a reliable difference between the groups on the total time taken, $\underline{F}(1, 55) = 6.47, \underline{P} < .05$. Inspection of the mean total times shows that this difference is due to the shorter time needed by the ENG group to complete this task (see Table 18). Rather than indicating a difference in reading ability, this difference can be explained as a result of the FI group's lack of practice in doing this type of task in English.

Maze Test Results for "Good English Readers"; Mean Scores,
Standard Deviations, and Univariate F's

		Scores Deviations)	<u>F</u>	
	PI n=12	ENG n=45		
Total Time			**	
(Max. 10 minutes)	6.33 (2.64)	4.49 (2.11)	6.47*	
·		÷		
Total Score (Max. 15)	11.75 (4.88)	12.53 (2.25)	.66	
· •	-			i i i i i I i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
* p < .05, df = 1, 55.	<u> </u>	`		
£.			·	**.

LaBerge and Samuels in their Model of Automaticity in Reading (1974) state that in the process of becoming a fluent reader, reading subskills become automatic and thus, the fluent reader needs to pay attention only

a majority of their attention to decoding the visual symbols as their decoding subskills are not yet automatic. Both the FI and ENG children involved in this research are beginning readers. One would not expect many children in either group to have reached a level of automaticity in decoding subskills as yet. One might also expect that, because the FI children are learning to read in French and do not have instructional time in reading English or practice in reading English at school, their decoding subskills may not be as proficient as those of the ENG group.

One way to measure the proficiency of decoding subskills, or level of automaticity, is through reading rate. A slower rate suggests that children are less proficient in decoding subskills and thus must pay closer attention to decoding the visual symbols. A faster rate suggests a greater proficiency of decoding subskills.

A multivariate analysis was performed on all the rate measures obtained from the "Good English Readers". This was done to ascertain whether a difference in the level of proficiency of decoding subskills existed between the "Good English Readers" in the FI and ENG groups. These rate measures were:

- 1. Fast reading time in the Reading Common Words Subtest
- 2. Total Time taken to complete the Maze Test
- 3. Oral reading rate, Pre-Primer passage
- 4. Oral reading rate, Primer passage
- Oral reading rate, Grade One passage.

The analysis revealed no differences between the two groups on these measures, F(5, 51) = 1.97, P(5, 51) = 1.97, P(5, 51) = 1.97

of the groups' performance of the Reading and Decoding Test (see Table 18)
revealed no differences on the Ratio of Correct Words per Minute. These
results suggest that the FI group of "Good English Readers" are as proficient
in decoding subskills as the ENG group.

Proficiency or automaticity of decoding subskills is increased through practicing decoding skills (LaBerge & Samuels, 1974). Because the FI group has obtained a level of proficiency in decoding subskills very similar to that level reached by the "Good English Readers" in the ENG group, one must conclude that, in order for them to have reached this level of proficiency, they must be practicing a substantial amount of English reading at home as they are not practicing English reading in school. As the results of the parent interviews show, all FI children are read to at home, usually in English; many of the children read at home in English and most FI parents help their children with English reading skills.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

This present study adds support to previous research which shows that grade I French Immersion (FI) children do not read English as well as their English instructed (ENG) peers. The purpose of this present study was not simply to reconfirm this difference in the English reading ability between these two groups of children, but to delineate this difference. The difference between the FI and ENG groups can be described as a difference in reading strategies which grade 1 FI and ENG children use to read. English materials.

Not unexpectedly, in this study those children who were taught to read in regular English classrooms had only one kind of reading strategy to use:

English reading strategies. In contrast to the ENG group, the FI children can be characterized as using three different strategies when reading English materials, 1) English reading strategies, 2) French reading strategies, 3) a combination of French and English reading strategies, or as having no strategy to use.

A number of the FI children tested here (24%) generally read English very well, using English reading strategies very much like those used by the ENG group. These "Good English Readers" primarily used English reading strategies when reading familiar or unfamiliar words presented in context. However, when reading real or make-believe words in isolation, some interference from their French decoding skills was seen. This group of FI children are learning to distinguish when and for what materials their

French decoding skills are appropriate and when their English decoding skills should be used.

As expected, other children in the FI group (22%) used only French decoding strategies to read English materials. When reading English words aloud they pronounced them as French words. These children are "French-decoders". Unlike the "Good English Readers" who can use both French and English reading strategies, these children appear only to be able to use French reading strategies.

A third group of FI children (38%) seemed to be using a combination of French and English reading strategies to read English materials.

However, their English reading skills are not as advanced as those of the "Good English Readers". These children used what could be called English pre-reading skills (i.e., letter names and guessing at vowel sounds). By using their limited English reading skills in combination with their French reading skills, this group of children usually read real English words, but rarely read the correct English word. These children are not fimited to pronouncing English as French when reading English materials because unlike the "French-decoders", they can use some English reading strategies.

The final group of FI children (16%) usually gave no response. These children had very poor French reading skills. They could not use those skills when reading English materials because they had difficulty in using French skills on French materials. They seemed to have no reading strategy to use.

The FI children's errors on the Reading and Decoding Test clearly show that elements of their French reading skills are appropriate to transfer to English reading and that other elements interfere with their English reading. This research shows that single consonant sounds transfer well from reading

French to reading English, that A in the CVC pattern, U in the CVCE pattern and the vowel combinations UR, OR, OU and OW, transfer well from French to English. This research also shows that significant interference from French reading instruction to reading English occurs on the consonant digraphs SH, TH, and CH; the single consonant sounds R, X, and J; and on I and U in the CVC pattern. These elements interfered even when the FI children who were "Good English Readers" read make-believe or real words out of context.

In fact, those elements of French reading which actually interfere with English reading are very few and, in themselves, are not enough to explain all the difficulties observed here. The performance of the three groups of FI children who had problems reading English, and some of the "Good English Readers", also seems to be affected by a lack of knowledge of certain reading skills. These children are poor at blending consonant sounds, they do not know certain consonant digraphs, and they are not sure of the sound represented by 0 in the CVC pattern. These reading skills, common to both French and English, will improve through instruction and practice in Prench, and this improvement should be reflected in the FI children's English reading performance.

There are, of course, English reading skills that some FI children will not have, even when they do become good French readers. These skills are not common to French and English, and to read English well the children will need to be taught these skills (i.e., the CVCE pattern, certain vowel sounds). Also, of course, to read English well, the children will need to be taught about those elements of French described earlier, which interfere with reading English.

The teacher interviews showed that the FI and ENG classes are very similar except for the language of instruction. All the classes but one FI class read silently daily in their language of instruction; all but one FI class and one ENG class often did writing tasks which the teacher considered suitable for the children's skill level; all the classes used the school library; and all teachers, except one FI teacher, read daily to their class. Not unexpectedly, FI teachers did not give the children in their classes instruction in English Language Arts, except that two FI teachers occasionally read English stories to their classes.

Because researchers have questioned whether parental involvement in the reading process has facilitated the transfer of reading skills from french to English (Edwards, 1976; Barik & Swain, 1976; Cummins, 1977; Genesee, 1979) this research has attempted to identify, through parent interviews, some features of this parental involvement. The parent interviews did show an interesting difference between the FI and ENG groups: FI parents read to their children more often than ENG parents. In fact, all FI parents, except one whose child was an independent reader, regularly read aloud to their children, and usually in English. Most FI parents helped their children with English reading skills at home, even though one FI school asked parents not to do so. Also, many FI children practice reading English at home. For some children, "The Good English Readers", this practice appears to have been substantial, as they have reached the same level of proficiency in their decoding subskills as those "Good English Readers" in the ENG group.

Researchers have known that French Immersion children begin to transfer the reading skills they have learnt through French reading instruction to

reading English even before English Language Arts is introduced as a subject (Edwards, 1976; Shapson & Kaufman, 1978; Genesee, 1979; Swain & Lapkin, 1981). However, research to this time has not shown "precisely what is being transferred" (Genesee, 1979, p. 74). The research described here has attempted to show how grade 1 French Immersion children are transferring their reading skills to their native language.

This research has found that by the end of grade 1 some French Immersion children are very good English readers. The children read English almost as well as those children instructed in English; they can use graphophonic, semantic and syntactic information to derive meaning from print. Other French Immersion children have not yet learned to read in French and so have no decoding skills to transfer to reading English. A third group of French Immersion children inappropriately transfer French decoding skills directly to English. They have yet to learn that some of their decoding skills are not appropriate to use when reading English. Because their reading then sounds like French, not English, they also do not apply their knowledge of the semantics and syntax of English while reading. A final group of French Immersion children are beginning to determine when French decoding skills are appropriate to use and when they are not. This last group of children often rely on their semantic and syntactic knowledge of English to compensate for their lack of English decoding skills.

There are important instructional implications for that group of

French Immersion children who are "Good English Readers" and those French

Immersion children who are not. When these children reach grade 3, the

grade when English reading instruction is introduced, one would expect

that these two ability groups would still exist. One would also expect that the number of children who are in the group of "Good English Readers" would increase. At this grade level, then, if these two groups of FI children's instructional needs are to be met, each group will require substantially different English Language Arts instruction.

References

- Adams, M.J., Huggins, A.W.F., Starr, B.J., Rollins, A.M., Zuckerman, L.E., Stevens, K.N., Nickerson, R.S. (1980). A Prototype Test of Decoding

 Skills Final Report. BBN Report No. 4316. Bolt Bernaek and Newman Inc.,
 Cambridge, Ma.
- Barik, Henri C., & Swain, Merril. (1975). Three year evaluation of a large scale early grade French Immersion Programme: The Ottawa Study.

 Language Learning, 25, 1-30.
- Barik, Henri C., & Swain, Merril. (1976). Primary grade French Immersion in a unilingual English/Canadian setting: The Toronto study through grade 2. Canadian Journal of Education, 1:1, 39-58.
- Barik, Henri C., & Swain, Merril. (1978). Evaluation of a French Immersion program: The Ottawa study through grade 5. Canadian Journal of Behavioral Science, 10, 192-201.
- Biemiller, Andrew. (1970). The development of the use of graphic and contextual information as children learn to read. Reading Research Quarterly, VI, 75-96.
- Boning, Richard. (1978). Getting the Facts, Preparatory Level. Specific Skills Series, Barnell Loft Ltd., Baldwin, New York.
- Botel, Morton. (1962). <u>Botel Predicting Readability Levels</u>. Follet Publishing Co., Chicago.
- Book. American Heritage.

- Chall, Jeanne S. (1979). The great debate: ten years later, with a modest proposal for reading stages. In Lauren B. Resnick & Phyllis A. Weaver (Eds.), Theory and Practice of Early Reading, Volume I. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers, Hillsdale, New Jersey, 29-55.
- Clymer, Theodore, Parr, Billie, Gates, Doris & Robinson, Elinor G. (1978)

 Reading 720, Levels 3, 4, and 5. Ginn and Company.
- Cummins, James. (1977). Delaying native language reading instruction in immersion programs: A cautionary note. Canadian Modern Language

 Review, 34, 46-49.
- D'Anglejan, Alison & Tucker, G.R. (1971). Academic report: The St.

 Lambert program of home-school language switch. Modern Language

 Journal, 55, 99-101.
- Day, Elaine. (1978). B.C. French study. Early French immersion programs:

 A literature review. Faculty of Education, Simon Fraser University,

 Burnaby, B. C.
- Durkin, D. (1966). Children Who Read Early. New York: Teacher's College Press, Columbia University.
- Edwards, Henry P. (1976). Evaluation of the French Immersion program offered by the Ottawa Roman Catholic Separate School Board.

 Canadian Modern Language Review, 33, 137-150.
- Genesee, F. (1978). A longitudinal evaluation of an early immersion school programme. Canadian Journal of Education, 3, 31-50.
- Genesee, Fred. (1979). Acquisition of reading skills in Immersion programs. Foreign Language Annals, 12, 71-77.
- Gray, W. S. (1969). The Teaching of Reading and Writing. Switzerland:
 U.N.E.S.C.O.

- Guthrie, J.T. (1973). Reading comprehension and syntactic responses in good and poor readers. <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>, 65, 294-299.
- LaBerge, David & Samuels, S. Jay. (1974). Towards a theory of automatic processing in reading. Cognitive Psychology, 6, 293-323.
- Lambert, Wallace E. (1974). A Canadian experiment in bilingual competence.

 The Canadian Modern Language Review, 31, 108-116.
- Lamert, W.E. & Tucker, G.R. (1972). <u>Bilingual education of children:</u>

 The St. Lambert experiment. Newburry House Publishers Inc.
- Mason, J. (1977). Reading Readiness: A definition and skills hierarchy from preschoolers developing conceptions of print. (Technical Report No. 59). Urbana: University of Illinois, Centre of the Study of Reading.
- McCormick, C. & Mason, J. (1981). What happens to children's knowledge about reading after summer vacation? Reading Teacher, 35, 164-172.
- McCracken, Robert A. (1966). Standard Reading Inventory (SRI) Form A.

 Klamath Printing Co., Klamath Falls, Oregon.
- McEachern, William. (1980). Parental decision for French immersion:

 A look at some influencing factors. Canadian Modern Language

 Review, 36, 238-246.
- Mondiano, J. (1966). Reading comprehension in the national language:

 a comparative study of bilingual and all-Spanish approaches to reading
 instruction in selected Indian schools in the Highlands of Chiapas,

Mexico. Doctoral dissertation, New York University.

Mondiano, N. (1972). Reading in hilingual education. (ED 065 000, FL 003 383). Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Office of Education, ERIC, 1970.

- Metten, Joan E., & Spain, William H. (1983). An Evaluation of the French
 Bilingual Project of the St. John's Roman Catholic School Board:

 1981-1982. Memorial University of Newfoundland and the Roman
 Catholic School Board for St. John's Newfoundland.
- Rauch, Lusette. (1982). Reading skills upon Entry to Kindergarten: Early

 Reading and the Pre-School Environment. Unpublished Master's Thesis,

 Simon Fraser University.
- Read, C. (1975). Children's Categoristions of Speech Sounds in English.

 ERIC Clearinghouse on Language and Linguistics, Urbana, Illinois.
- Shapson, S.M. (1982). Language policy and the education of majority and minority language students. In Stan M. Shapson, Vincent D'Oyley & Anne Lloyd (Eds.), <u>Bilingualism and Muliculturalism in Canadian Education</u>. Centre for the Study of Curriculum and Instruction, University of British Columbia.
- Shapson, S.M., & Day, E.M. (1982). A longitudinal evaluation of an early immersion program in B.C. <u>Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development</u>, 3, 1-16.
- Shapson, Stan, & Kaufman, David. (1978). Overview of elementary French programs in B.C.: Issues and research. The Canadian Modern Language Review, 34, 586-603,
- Silvaroli, Nicholas. (1965). <u>Classroom Reading Inventory</u>, Third Edition.

 Wm. C. Brown Co., Dubuque, Iowa.
- Smith, Frank. (1971). Understanding Reading. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Stern, H.H. (1977). French Immersion in Canada: Achievements and directions. Canadian Modern Language Review, 34, 836-854.

- Swain, Merril. (1976). English speaking child + early French immersionbilingual child? Canadian Modern Language Review, 33, 180-192.
- Swein, Merril. (1974). French Immersion programs across Canada:

 Research findings. The Canadian Modern Language Review, 34, 117-129.
- Swain, Merril. (1978). School reform through hilingual education:

 Problems and some solutions in evaluating programs. Comparative

 Education Review, 22, 420-433.
- Swain, Merril, & Barik, Henri C. (1973). French Immersion classes:

 A promising route to bilingualism. ORBIT, 1, 3-5.
- Swain, Merril, & Lapkin, S. (1981). Bilingual Education in Ontario:

 A Decade of Research. OISE, Ontario.
- Tucker, G.R. (1975). The development of reading within a bilingual education program. In Sandra S. Smiley & John C. Towner (Eds.),

 Sixth Western Symposium on Learning: Language and Reading,

 Western Washington State College, 49-59.
- Weber, Rose Marie. (1970). First grader's use of grammatical context in reading. In Harry Levin & Joanna Williams (Eds.), Basic Studies

 in Reading. Basic Books, New York, 147-163.
- Wilton, Florence. (1975). Implications of a second language program:

 The Coquitlam experience. Canadian Modern Language Review, 31, 169-175.

Appendix A The Reading and Decoding Test

			· ·	
•	•	FRENCH	ENGLISH	
CHILD SEX:	M F			
TEACHER		TESTER		
SCHOOT.		DATE		
				

INSTRUCTIONS:

I am going to ask you to read some words in English for me today.

I'm going to tape it and I will be writing some things down while you are reading.

1. COMMON WORD IDENTIFICATION

A. I am going to give you a list of some English words to read. I want you to read them as fast as you can. If you can't read the word say "skip it" and then read the next one. I don't want you to try to sound the words out now. You can do that later. I will show you what I want you to do: Examiner reads another list of words quickly inserting 3 or 4 "skip its". (skip "day").

B. Analysis and Word Meaning

Now I am going to ask you to read the words again. This time you don't have to be quick; you can sound them out if you need to. After you have read a word I want you tell me what the word means.

Example: You read "cat" and then you could say "animal", "dog", "fluffy", or "My cat says meow." Now read this word "no". What could you say to show me that you know what that word means?

(If the child's meaning response is not complete but not incorrect ask the child to tell you more; i.e., I have a cat.)

2

	•			•
	FAST READING	ANALYSIS	MEANING RESPONSE	
DAY		~		
CON	·			
GIRL				- —
HE				<i>e e</i>
BOX	•			-
CAR .				•
			*	<u> </u>
EYE			. v	•
BEST				•
MUCH				•
OVER				
THINK	ALL THE STATE OF T	• · ·		Ya. Luk
AGAIN	•			
LONG		-		
WIDE				
CHANGE			\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	
JARM .				.
ROUND				
LIGHT				
ONLY	A			

		•		
	TOTAL CORRECT	TOTAL CORRECT	TOTAL CORRECT	
POSSIBLE 20	TDE			

2. SPELLING COMMON WORDS

Here are all the letters of the alphabet and one extra of each of these letters (point to vowels.) I am going to ask you to spell some words using these letters. Make the words right here (point to working space paper). (Use CAT as an example. Check if correct. Write out incorrect response.)

HEM	FRAME
СНОР	MULE
THUMP	STRING
SLOPE	SHINE
	POSSIBLE 37
	TOTAL CORRECT

3. READING CONSONANT SOUNDS

Now here are some make-believe English words which I want you to read. You can sound them out to help you read them. (Check if correct.

Write out incorrect response.)

Write out incorrect response.)	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
(3) BLASH	(3) VACT
(3) HAPT	(2) YAPH
(3) JANK	(2) KNAJ
(3) MALD	(4) DRANT
(3) SWAV	(4) STRAF
(4) THRAMP	(3) CHASK
(2) WRANG	(2) PHALL
(3) GRACK	(3) ZAST
(4) CLAND	(2) WHATH
(3) SHRAX	(4) SPIAB

POSSIBLE 60 TOTAL CORRECT

4. READING VOWEL SOUNDS

Here are some more make-believe English words for you to read.

Again you can sound them out. (Check correct response. Write out incorrect response.)

VEB	PABE	MOY	NIR	<u>FOUP</u>	
VIB	PIBE	MAY	NOR	FRAP	.
VAB	PUBE	MEE	NER	FOW	
VOB	PEBE	MAIT	NAR	PAW /	
VUB	РОВЕ	MOIT	NUR	FOOP	
			•	FOAP	

POSSIBLE 26

TOTAL CORRECT

Appendix B

, Oral Reading and Comprehension Test

ORAL READING AND COMPREHENSION TEST: DIRECTIONS

Now I'm going to ask you to read a story for me. I'd like you to read it out loud, and after you read it you should tell me about it.

I may ask you a few questions, too. Okay?

This is a story about a boy named John. (Hand to child) (Mark comprehension questions as child retells, in sequence if possible.

Ask any questions missed.)

If comprehension above 60%:

Now I'd like you to read one more story for me. Again I'd like you to read it out loud and then tell me about it when you're finished.

Okay? This is a story about a trip.

If comprehension above 60%:

Now I'd like you to read one <u>last</u> story out loud for me and then again tell me about it when you are finished. Okay? This is a story about a boy named Bill.

.1	^^	
. 10	ш	-

ORAL READING AND COMPREHENSION

Pre-Prime	T
***	-

John

"I want to play" said John.

"I want something to play with."

Mother looked up. Mother looked

down. "I see something you play

with," said Mother. "It is red

and blue. It is not little."

John looked. "I see it," said

John. "It is a big ball."

(47 words)

WORD RECOGNITION ERRORS
TOTAL ERRORS
TIME
WPM
What did John want?
How did Mother help?
What did Mother see?
What did it look like?
What did John see?
 comprehension unsided
total comprehension
 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Primer

A Trip

The children are at school.

They are going to a farm.

Mr. White is going, too.

They went on the school bus.

"I see the barn," said Jack.

"I see a cow," said one of

the children. "There is a

black horse," said Mary.

comprehension unaided

Total comprehension

"Can I go for a ride?" "No,"

said Mr. White. "You will see

the horse. But you can not ride it."

WORD RECOGNITION ERRORS

TOTAL ERRORS

TIME

Where are the children?

What did one child see?

Where are they going?

What did Mary see?

Who is going with them?

What did Mary want?

What did Mary get a ride?

What did Jack see?

What did Mr. White say?

Gra	

B111 '

Bill had a toy cat. He took it
outside to play. Night came.
Bill did not bring in his toy
cat. It rained that night. The
next day Bill looked for his cat.
"Mother," he called. "I lost my
cat. Will you help me?"
"Where do you think it is?" said
Mother. Bill did not know.
"Let's look outside," said Mother.
Bill found his toy cat in the
street. (69 words)

OTAL ERRORS	
'IME	
PM	
What did Bill have?	What did he ask his mother?
What did he do?	What did Mother say?
What did he forget?	Where did Bill think his toy was?
What happened that night?	Where did Mother say to look?
What happened the next day?	Where did Bill find it?
omprehension unaided	

Appendix C

Maze Test

Name

make
Mary wanted to jump a cake, but
wash

think she did not look how. "Mother, will know

you feed me?" asked Mary. Mother said help

he that she would help. we

Mother
Mary and Father made the cake.
brother

Then Mary's friends dug to her house. cried

They all said she was a good cake.

Name



Stay in the table, said Father.

when I hop back from the store, I will come

cut
bring you a surprise. Bill rained in
tie
stayed

the house. When Mother came home, Father

Bill he gave Mother a new toy. . It was a Father

lost
red truck. Bill had fun eating with
sad
playing

his toy truck.

106. Appendix D Teacher Interview Schedule

		107.	
	Name		
	Schoo1		
l. Do you read aloud to the children	n in your class?		
2. Do you read daily?	——————————————————————————————————————		
How many minutes per day?			
<u>FI only</u>			
Do you read aloud in French?	minutes ner dav		
Do you read aloud in English?		···	
3. Does your class use the school li	brary to take out !	oooks?	
FI only		•	
Do the children only take French	Books?	<u>_</u> .	•
Do the children only take English	Books?		
Is there control over the books b			
			
Which do the children prefer?		_	
. Does your class have USSR?	• `	•	٠
How often? minutes per day_	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
, FI only			
USSR in French only?			
USSR in English only?	•		1.
•			• .
Free choice of English or French?			
Which is preferred?	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
. Doe's your class write often?	_		
How often?		·	· .
What do they write? (stories, jour	rnal, notes)		
I only		. •	-

1 **

•

Appendix E

Parent Interview Schedule

	Name
FI	ENG School_
1.	Do you read to your child?
	How often? (Everyday, Most days, couple of times a week, seldom)
2	What kinds of books do you read? (stories, magazines)
	<u>FI only</u>
.	In what language do you read to your child?
2.	Does your child read at home?
	What kinds of materials does he read?
•	FI only
	In what language does he read?
3.	Do you take your child to the library? How often?
,	FI only
	In what language are the books borrowed?
	Which are preferred?
4.	Child's place in the family?
•	
	FI only
	Other children in FI?
5.	Does your child watch TV? Hours per week/day?
	What kinds of shows? Did your child watch
	Sesame Street? Blectric Co?
	FI only
	Does your child watch French TV?
	Any valuable learning from watching TV?
7.	Do you give help with reading? How much?
	How do you help? (tell a word, help sound out words, help with meaning?)

Appendix F

Letters of Permission

May 11, 1983

Dear Parent:

Signature of Parent

I am planning to carry out a research study in your child's classroom. The purpose of this letter is to explain the study to you and ask you to give permission for your child to participate.

The intent of this study is to gather information about the ability of children in French immersion classrooms to transfer their reading skills in French to English. To do this we propose to follow groups of children in French immersion and regular English classrooms from the end of grade one through grade four and compare the development of reading skills of children in the two groups. This information is important because it can be used by teachers to improve reading instruction in the future when reading is introduced in English to children in the French immersion program.

The study will take approximately 30 minutes. Your child will be asked to do several reading tasks which will be given individually by a trained administrator in a quiet, relaxed atmosphere.

The study has been given approval by the school district and your child's principal and teacher. I hope you will permit your child to participate in this very important study. Please indicate your consent below and have your child return this letter to his/her teacher tomorrow.

Thank you for your kind consideration.

Sincerely,

Janet Ross Kendall Associate Professor 291-3796 or 291-3395

My child_			may	participat		
	ves	no				
					•	
,		·	·			

May 11, 1983

Dear Parent:

I am planning to carry out a research study in your child's classroom.

The purpose of this letter is to explain the study to you and ask you to give permission for your child to participate.

In 1978 the Ministry of Education published a new Language Arts Curriculum Guide, including a scope and sequence, for grades K-7. In the same year two reading programs were prescribed for use in British Columbia schools. These new curriculum materials are now well in place. It would be very useful to examine the reading skills children in the primary grades are acquiring under this new curriculum.

To do this, we propose to follow a group of children from the end of grade one through grade four. We will use a newly developed instrument which appears to accurately describe children's acquisition of various decoding and comprehension skills. The children will be asked to complete several reading tasks individually by a trained administrator in a quiet, relaxed atmosphere.

The results from the longitudinal study will also be used to compare the progress of children in French immersion classes in learning to read English with that of children whose language arts instruction is entirely in English. This, too, has valuable instructional implications.

This study has been approved by the school district and your child's principal and teacher. I hope you will permit your child to participate in the first phase of this important study. Please indicate your consent below and have your child return this letter to his/her teacher tomorrow.

Thank you for your kind consideration.

Signature of parent

Sincerely,

Janet Ross Kendall Associate Professor 291-3796 or 291-3395

•	291-3/96 or 291-3395
My child	may participate in this study.
yesno	•